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ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS' MEETING
Agenda

> Board of Directors' report on operations and themacompany financial statements
for fiscal year 2018;

» Board of Directors' report on operations and thesotidated financial statements for
fiscal year 2018;

> Board of Directors' report on corporate governance;
» Statutory Auditors’ Reports

- on the parent company financial statements

- on regulated agreements and commitments

- on the consolidated financial statements

» Approval of the parent company financial stateméotshe year ended 31 December
2018;

> Approval of the consolidated financial statemers the year ended 31 December
2018;

» Appropriation of earnings;

A\

Agreements governed by Article L. 225-38 of thenfelreCommercial Code;

Discharge of the Directors;

Y VY

Approval of the directors' fees allocated to themhers of the Board of Directors;

A\

Elements of remuneration;
» Director appointments.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Certification of the annual repart

| hereby certify that to the best of my knowledge financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with applicable accounting standards present a true and fair view of the
assets and liabilities, financial position and @aga of the company and all the companies
included in the consolidation and that the managemeport enclosed herein presents a true
and fair view of the operations, earnings and faranposition of the company and all the
companies included in the consolidation, as wellaadescription of the main risks and
uncertainties facing them.

Jean-Marie Nusse



Executive Vice President



REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

TO THE ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS' MEETING

To the Shareholders,

1. REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF THE PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL

OF 6 JUNE 2019

STATEMENTS

(€000) 2018 2017
Operating revenue 8,228 8,385
Operating income/(loss) (169) (38)
Net financial items 4,330 (8,393)
Net income/(loss) 5,487 (9,231)

A €12 million investment write-down was recordedhe 2017 financial statements.

EXACOMPTA CLAIREFONTAINE, the holding company, ses/the Group companies, for

which it manages the sales force and certain ptppssets.

It is also responsible for the Group’s financial mragement, consolidation, legal and tax
services, communications and relations with shddehs. It coordinates actions taken

relating to environmental certification.

Since January 2003, the subsidiaries have paid EDXMAETA CLAIREFONTAINE a royalty

equal to 0.2% of their added value for the previgesr.

The companies that head sub-groups (Exacomptaid?egsede Clairefontaine, Clairefontaine
Rhodia, AFA and Photoweb) guarantee all repaymehtkeir subsidiaries that borrow from

their parent company.

The amount of non-tax deductible expenses was £17,2




INCOME FOR THE LAST FIVE YEARS (€)

Balance sheet date 31/12/2018| 31/12/2017| 31/12/2016| 31/12/2015| 31/12/2014
Duration of the reporting period (in months) 12 12 12 12 12
CAPITAL AT YEAR-END

Share capital 4,525,920 4,525,920 4,525,920 4,525,920 4,525,920
Number of ordinary shares 1,131,480 1,131,480 1,131,480 1,131,480 1,131,480
OPERATIONS AND RESULTS

Revenue excluding tax 1,192,493 1,278,105 1,220,327 1,478,144 2,231,400
Income before taxes, profit-sharing, depreciation,

amortisation and provisions 5,072,573 4,260,995 2,065,601 3,525,087 2,960,074
Income taxes (903,725) 825,352 829,951 2,271,913 3,659,941
Net depreciation, amortisation and provisions 488,883 12,666,797 750,344 658,681 1,018,221
Net income/(loss) 5,487,415 (9,231,154 485,306 594,493 (1,718,088
Distributed income *3,054,996| 3,054,996 2,941,848 2,262,960 1,301,202
EARNINGS PER SHARE

Income after taxes and profit-sharing and before

depreciation, amortisation and provisions 5 3 1 1 (2)
Income after taxes, profit-sharing, depreciation,

amortisation and provisions 5 (8) 0 1 (2)
Dividend paid *2.70 2.70 2.60 2 1.15
PERSONNEL

Average number of employees 41 44 43 44 44
Payroll 3,710,118 3,793,875 3,795,882 3,873,499 3,892,71§
Sums paid in employee benefits (social security,

fringe benefits, etc.) 1,478,584 1,503,407 1,518,929 1,562,125 1,518,652

* Dividend proposed

INVOICES RECEIVED AND ISSUED NOT SETTLED AT THE YBHR-END AND PAST

DUE DATE

Invoices received

Invoices issued

invoices in € net of taxes

91 days 91 days
1-30 31-60 | 61-90 1-30 | 31-60 | 61-90
and Total and Total
days days days more days days days more
(A) - Late payments by age
Number of invoices concerned 4 4
Total amount for the invoices 3.648 _ _ _ 3644 3,733 _ _ 59 3.793
concerned in € net of taxes
Percentage of total' amount of 0.2% 0.2%
purchases for the fiscal year
Percentage of revenue for the o o o
fiscal year 0.2% 0.0% 0.2%
(B) - Invoices excluded from (A) relating to amaosinéceivable and amounts payable disputed o
recorded
Number of invoices excluded None None
Total amount for excluded None None

French Commercial Code)

(C) - Standard payment terms used (contractuagal - Article L. 441-6 or Article L. 443-1 of the

Payment terms used for
calculating late payments

Contractual payment terms

Contractual payment terms

not



SHARE AND SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

The share listed at €123 on 2 January 2018 anedltte year at €100 (down 18.7%). The
number of shares traded during the year was 29,226.

The parent company does not have a share buybagkapnme and there are no employee
shareholders.

The capital of the parent company is composed d811480 shares, and did not change
during the year. A double voting right is grantedetich fully paid-up share which has been
registered for at least two years in the name @stime shareholder.

Our principal shareholder, Ets Charles Nusse, 8&@{395 shares with double voting rights,
representing 80.46% of the capital, at 31 Decerb&8.

Financiere de I'Echiquier, a minority shareholdempssed the 5% ownership threshold in
2005.

2. REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF THE 2017 CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1 EARNINGS

(€000) 2018 2017

Income from continuing activities 603,099 597,709
Operating income 14,922 22,581
Net income before tax 14,924 19,441
Net income after tax 12,480 12,866
Minority interests 0 0
Group share 12,480 12,866

2018 earnings were impacted by a significant fathperating income, as well as:

- a €1,800,000 reduction in net financial expenseittually zero due to transactions
related to currency gains and losses;

- a €4,131,000 reduction in tax expense due to r@daced tax base and (ii) the inclusion
of all French companies in the tax group, leadimgt€1,582,000 increase in the tax
consolidation gain.

No impairment charges were recognised against gidlazivother items.

2018 Group cash flow amounted to €38,706,000 antTBR (Earnings Before Interest,
Taxes, Depreciation and Amortisation) was €40,23@,0compared to €37,253,000 and
€46,849,000 respectively in 2017.

The consolidated financial statements include aetisns performed by the Group with
Etablissements Charles Nusse, which provides aduick assistance to Group companies.
Services provided are paid for in the form of adgeal to 0.6% of their added value for the
previous year.



2.2 BUSINESS SECTORS

Paper

In 2018, European production of uncoated printimgl avriting papers fell 1.8% (source
CEPI). Production by our five paper machines ineeelal.1% to 232,000 tonnes of paper
reel. Once again, the main factor impacting theadepent’s profitability was the increase in
purchased pulp prices. The average price per tar@se€110 higher than in 2017 and €170
higher than in 2016. Capital expenditure totalld@.8 million in 2018, mainly invested in
logistics and specialised manufacturing processes.

Processing

The French stationery market was stable duringfiteehalf but was disrupted towards the

end of the year by the repeated demonstrationsaturdays, posting an average decline of
1.7% (source I+C). Notwithstanding these eventgssaeld up across all product categories
and the productivity drive over the last few yeallswed us to maintain our profit margins.

Our export market is also developing due to gremtirnational awareness of our brands.
The processing division incurred capital expeneitfr€14.1 million in 2018.

2.3 FEINANCIAL POSITION

2.3.1 Debt

The Group posted 2018 revenue of €603,099,000.1AD8&cember 2018, gross borrowings
stood at €118,423,000 and shareholders’ equityiedt§402,269,000.

In order to provide for its growth, the Group hagatiated several lines of credit with its
banks. At the balance sheet date, no commerciatrphpd been issued out of a global
programme of €125 million.

Gross cash and cash equivalents amounted to €Bl60®4and the Group was able to fund
capital expenditure from cash flow. Group net bermgs stood at €3,078,000 at 31
December 2018.

2.3.2 Financial instruments

The Group has used derivative financial instrumémtémit its exposure to the interest rate
risks resulting from its operating, financing anglesting activities.

At 31 December 2018, the Group held no interest redging instruments as these had
expired. Due to the current low fixed rates, it wet considered appropriate to use new
derivative financial instruments.

Under its cash management policy, the Group doesaid or issue financial derivatives for
transaction purposes.

2.4 RISK MANAGEMENT




The Group has conducted an analysis of the risksntlay have a material adverse impact on
its business, financial position and earnings. fE#seilts of this analysis indicate that there are
no significant risks other than those listed below.

2.4.1 Risks related to economic activity

The majority of our assets are located in Fran880)9 Our sales are generated primarily in
France (63.5%) and in Europe (31.9%), largely irst& Europe.

The purchase price of our primary raw material, goapulp, is influenced by the world
market.

The price of raw materials can vary by more thaBOE@er tonne over relatively short periods
depending on global production capacity, demanthfemmerging countries and the Euro to
US Dollar exchange rate which is the market's berack currency. It is to be noted that the
Group uses about 150,000 tonnes of pulp acro#s @ltoduction units.

Consumption of papers for office use and statiomems changes regularly according to the
needs of businesses and households. It is rehativaffected by economic conditions.

However, data transmission, note-taking, infornmagxchange and training are increasingly
carried out via digital means. This has resultednnannual reduction of around 3% in the
consumption of printing and writing paper in Europeer the last ten years. For example,
ream consumption in France fell by 31% between 2803 2017 (source ADEME). This
downward trend also impacts our various categarfiesationery items to different degrees.

The quality of our products, our sales presencstoooner brand recognition and our research
and diversification efforts are key advantages e@lpimg us to adapt to this changing
environment.

2.4.2 Financial risks
Generally, the Exacompta Clairefontaine Group dogisengage in any complex financial
transactions. However, it is exposed to certaiksrielated to the use of financial instruments

in the context of its activities.

Risk management is performed by the operating umitsaccordance with the policy
established by senior management.

Credit risk

Credit risks represent the risk of financial loses the Group if a third party fails to meet its
contractual obligations.

- Trade and other receivables
The concentration of credit risk is not significahtis divided among a large number of
clients. The risk of default by business sector bypdountry in which the clients engage
in their activities does not have a significantuehce on credit risk.
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The Group has implemented tools to monitor outsteysdthat enable it to ensure that its
clients have an appropriate credit history.

Clients that do not satisfy solvency requiremerasnot carry out transactions with the
Group without making advance payments. In additavadit risk is limited by taking out
credit insurance policies.

The Group determines a level of write-downs thatesents its estimate of losses that
will be incurred in respect of trade and other nesigles. Impairment charges correspond
to specific losses related to individual risks.

- Investments
The Group limits its exposure to credit risk fronvéstments, short-term deposits and
other cash instruments by investing only in ligsgturities.
As the counterparties are leading banks, the Gdmgs not expect that any of them will
default.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s approach to managing this risk is teues that it always has sufficient liquid
assets to meet its liabilities as they fall duehaitt incurring unacceptable losses or damaging
its reputation.

To this effect, short-term financing (maturities l@ss than one year) is provided by
commercial paper on which a fixed rate is paid.

The Group also has lines of credit to cover mediem maturities, which can substitute or
supplement commercial paper issuance. The relateshants are respected.

The Group has conducted a specific review of gaidlity risk and deems that it will be able
to meet future maturities.

Exchange rate and price risk

The Group operates internationally. Risks relateddmmercial transactions denominated in
a currency other than the respective functionalenaies of Group entities are related mainly
to purchases of raw materials denominated in Ul

In order to manage this foreign exchange risk,Gheup may use options contracts to hedge
forecast transactions in this currency.

2.4.3 Risks related to proceedings, tax audits and tibga

To the best of the Group’s knowledge, there arepanding or threatened government,
judicial or arbitration proceedings that may hawehave had over the past 12 months, a
significant impact on the Group’s financial positior profitability.

2.4.4 Financial risks relating to the impacts of climaet&ange

No law or regulation defines the components of atenchange, the physical criteria of
measurement, the timeframe or related values. Tdrerethe financial risk related to the
impact of climate change cannot be objectively mesas

However, the Group does not expect any major fimhnisk in the short or medium term
directly linked to the rise in global average tenaperes, the rise in sea levels or changes in
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biodiversity. In application of Articles R. 516-1 ®eq. of the French Environmental Code, the
Group has set up financial guarantees for ensynlengt safety in the event of a shutdown.

The Non-financial Performance Declaration sets thet Group’s environmental policy. In
particular, it provides details of energy consumptigreenhouse gas emissions and measures
taken to reduce the carbon footprint of the Grogpsrations.

2.5 INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT PROCEDURES

2.5.1 Definition of internal control

Internal control is defined as a process implenterdenultaneously by the Board of
Directors, senior management and the employeesgubap, which is designed to provide
reasonable assurance that objectives are reacliee following areas:

- effectiveness and efficiency of operations;

- reliability of financial and accounting informatipn

- compliance with the laws and regulations in force.

Internal control consists of all methods that ma&magnt has implemented to provide
reasonable assurance that objectives are reaclletb gorevent the occurrence of damaging
events.

2.5.2 Purposes and limits

Internal control ensures control of the companyp&rations and protects it from various
types of risks, including:
- irregularities and fraud, including computer fraud,
- a material omission or inaccuracy in the processinigformation and, therefore, in
the financial statements;
- failure to comply with the company’s legal and gantual obligations;
- destruction, damage or disappearance of assatg;arect valuation of assets.

An internal control system, however efficient thgstem is, can provide only reasonable
assurance and not an absolute guarantee as tchisyement of the company’s objectives,
both because of the limits inherent in any procegdemented by human beings and because
of the limits on resources which all companies ntals¢ into account.

The Group relies on four types of financial and cacting information to guide its
operations:

- the annual and interim parent company and congdelidanancial statements;

- the guarterly statements (March and September putdished);

- the projected financial statements (not published).

2.5.3 Procedures for processing financial and accountiftgmation

Systematic identification of risks is the first [gten internal control. Mapping the Group’s
risks presents no specific problems and the maurets are as follows:
- control of raw materials purchases;
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- environmental risks;
-  protection of industrial assets and sites;
- control of the use of financial instruments anddied foreign currency risk.

The financial and accounting procedures that apfiexpin the various Group companies may
be summarised as follows:
—  preparation of projected financial statements;
- budget monitoring;
- monitoring of intercompany revenue;
- intercompany account reconciliations;
- monitoring of monthly and year-to-date interim cgiérg statements;
- monthly and year-to-date cash position;
- composition and performance of the investment phaotf
- monthly monitoring of the subsidiaries’ short- amthedium-term financial
commitments, with transmission and control of opega working capital
requirements.

The internal control of financial instruments igsfhically monitored by senior management,
with regard to the types of instruments used as aglthe maximum risk levels incurred,
which are measured daily.

These financial instruments (contracts or opti@s)stitute a transaction that helps to reduce
the risk of a variation in the value of an asseliaility, an unrealised future transaction to
which they relate, or a future commitment.

The Group has no department dedicated to inteonata that is responsible for conducting
verifications on its behalf (either in the pareaipany or in the companies it controls).

The transactions contributing to the corporatevdids of the Group and their presentation in
the financial statements are verified, though netessarily through the application of
formalised procedures, by senior management otsbguthorised representatives or agents,
with the general goal of complying or ensuring ctiemze with the laws, regulations and
standards in force, and of making every effort tevpnt the occurrence of losses that could
affect the Group’s ability to continue operations.

For processing financial and accounting informatithre Group and its subsidiaries use the
following systems:

- Yourcegid fiscalité (tax management)

- Talentia Consolidation and Intercompany (consoiafgt

- SAP, Navision (accounting & finance)

- Zadig (personnel management)

- Excalibur (accounting and financial intranet)

3. OUTLOOK

Rising raw material and energy costs have compelietb revise our paper and stationery
prices. Despite the somewhat reticent demand, 2fj#Fating income could amount to
around the average for the previous two years.

13



4. POST-BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

In order to provide the Group with the geographedlansion and diversification required for
its development, we are in the process of condgdtio major acquisitions relating to:

- 100% interest in the entity formed by the Danismpany Eurowrap A/S and Eurowrap
Ltd, its UK subsidiary. EUROWRAP, specialised i tmanufacture and distribution of
wrapping paper, gift bags and accessories, geseratenue of €31 million and employs
100 people. As such, we are continuing the devesmprof our creative arts, decoration
and packaging operations.

- Swiss company Biella Neher and its activities initdgrland and Germany under the
BIELLA and FALKEN brands in particular. The entigenerates revenue of CHF 142
million in filing articles, with a product rangedadly complementary to our own. As of
28 March, this transaction was in progress in thenfof a public offer recommended by
the Biella Neher board of directors.

5. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

In paper production, we work to develop the unifitymbrightness and coatings of paper
used for printing or specialised packaging. Mudtifgsts are carried out on our five machines.
We also target the use of recycled fibres.

For stationary, one of our workshops works on tieetbpment of specialised equipment. We
also have design studios and are pioneers in tbation of multi-use covers under the
KOVERBOOK brand. Finally, the Photoweb laboratogshcutting-edge customised digital
applications.

6. EMPLOYMENT INFORMATION

The Exacompta Clairefontaine Group had 3,057 eng@syat 31 December 2018. The
companies apply the collective agreement for thedyetion of papers, cardboard and
cellulose, or the collective agreement for carddgeackaging.

The Group Works Council met on 21 June 2018 to centron the Group’s business and the
economic and employment outlook for the year. Iit mgain on 24 October 2018 and
appointed Emmanuel Renaudin as director repreggainployees.
7. NON-FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE DECLARATION
The information required under Article L. 225-1021 the French Commercial Code is

included in a separate document entitled "Non-forginperformance declaration”, which is
an integral part of this management report.
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It provides information on the manner in which tBeoup takes into account the social and
environmental consequences of its activity as aglits commitments to society in favour of
sustainable development, the circular economy, ebimdp discrimination and promoting
diversity.

8. DRAFT RESOLUTIONS

8.1 APPROPRIATION OF EARNINGS

Earnings (€):

2018 AIMNINGS ..vvvvvrreiiiiiiiieeeeeeeee e s emmmmemreannaae s €5,487,415.54
We propose the following appropriation:
First dividend ... €226,296.00
Second dividend ..........cevveviiiiiiiiiiiiie €2,828,700.00

Total dividends €3,054,996.00
Transfer to other reserves .......cooveeveeieeeeeen.. €2,432,419.54

Given that the company’s share capital is divided 1,131,480 shares, each of these shares
will receive a total dividend of €2.70.

The following table shows the dividends paid fa thst three years:

Year Dividend Number of shares
2015 2.00 1,131,480
2016 2.60 1,131,480
2017 2.70 1,131,480

8.2 DIRECTORS' FEES

Your Board proposes that you approve directors fegehe amount of €91,000 to be paid to
the directors of the company for the current yea past years.

8.3 DIRECTORS

Your Board proposes that you appoint Monique Prissasiding at 17 rue de Tournon, Paris
6th district, and Louise de 'Estang Du Rusquetidiag at 4 rue Jean Nicot, Paris 7th district,
as directors.

These appointments, which are valid for six yeavd| terminate at the close of the
Shareholders’ Meeting called to approve the finalnstiatements for fiscal year 2024.

15



REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

1. List of offices and positions held by corporatecsfs

Céline Nusse
- Managing Director, Zadig Productions

Charles Nusse
- Member of the Supervisory Board of Ets Charles Huss
- Chairman, Exaclair Ltd (GB)
- Joint Managing Director, Ernst Stadelmann (AT)
- Joint Managing Director, Exaclair GmbH (DE)
- Manager of the German companies: Brause ProduhdrRodeco
- Director, Exaclair SA (BE)

Christine Nusse
- Chairwoman of the Supervisory Board of Ets Chadasse
- Chairwoman, Quo Vadis International (CA)
- Chairwoman, Exaclair Inc. (US)
- Vice-President, Quo Vadis Editions (US)

Francois Nusse
- Chairman of the Executive Board of Ets Charles Buss
- Chairman, Exacompta
- Chairman, Papeteries Sill
- Chairman, Claircell Ingénierie
- Joint Managing Director, Ernst Stadelmann (AT)
- Managing director, Exaclair SA (BE)

Frédéric Nusse
- Chairman, Papeteries de Clairefontaine
- Joint Managing Director, Exaclair GmbH (DE)

Guillaume Nusse
- Chairman, Clairefontaine Rhodia
- Chairman, CFR
- Chairman, Madly
- Sole director, Exaclair SA (ES)
- Manager of the Moroccan companies: Makane Bousk&urhliday and Clair Maroc

Jean-Claude Gilles Nusse
- Member of the Ets Charles Nusse Executive Board
- Manager, AFA
- Chairman, Photoweb
- Chairman of the Board of Directors, Exaclair SA |BE

Jean-Marie Nusse

- Member of the Ets Charles Nusse Executive Board
- Director, Exaclair SA (BE)
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Jérdme NUSSE
- Chairman, Editions Quo Vadis
- Chairman, Exaclair Italia (IT)
- Chairman, Quo Vadis Japan (JP)
- Chairman, Quo Vadis Editions (US)

Monique Prissard, permanent representative of B&sl€s Nusse
- Member of the Ets Charles Nusse Executive Board

Caroline Valentin
- Member of the Supervisory Board of Ets Charles Huss
- Manager, Cartier et Cie
- Director, Lancel Sogedi

Dominique Daridan
- Chairman of Daridan Conseil, Recherche Crédit etdtissements

2. Preparation and organisation of the work of therBad Directors

The Board of Directors is comprised of ten direstappointed by shareholders and one
director representing employees.

Exacompta Clairefontaine pursues a long-term pdhegugh a primarily family shareholding
structure.

Its Board of Directors brings together members wiitlect responsibilities from the various
divisions of the Group’s businesses and specialistéinancial and staff matters. They
collectively provide the qualifications and expeage required to determine the direction of
the Group’s businesses and monitor their implentiema

The other elements of the diversity policy reswt anly in an adherence to legal provisions
regarding the gender balance among directors, lsat ia the renewal of the Board of
Directors. The average age of directors has faignover seven years since 2015 as a
consequence.

Terms of office expire at the end of the year statebrackets:

e Christine Nusse (2018)
* Francois Nusse (2019)
* Frédéric Nusse (2021)
e Guillaume Nusse (2021)
* Jérbme Nusse (2021)

* Ets Charles Nusse, represented by Monique Pri¢2a&1)
* Dominique Daridan (2022)

* Céline Nusse (2022)
e Caroline Valentin (2022)

17



* Charles Nusse (2023)

* Emmanuel Renaudin, Director representing emplo{2@23)

The Chief Executive Officer is the Chairman of Bward of Directors.
He is also in charge of the Exacompta departmedtismsupported by two non-director
Executive Vice Presidents, assisting him in thiofing areas:

* Jean-Claude Gilles Nusse — Executive Vice PresidéfEA and Photoweb
departments.

* Jean-Marie Nusse — Executive Vice President: Pepstale Clairefontaine and
Clairefontaine Rhodia departments. Administratiod &inance Department.

The Board has placed no limitations on the powdrthe Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer.

The Board does not currently hold any delegatiomwhority granted at the Shareholders’
Meeting for the purposes of capital increases.

Notices of Board meetings are given in writing eddt eight days in advance. Meetings are
held at the registered office or at the offices glubsidiary in Paris.

The statutory auditors are called to the meetirfghe Board of Directors called to approve
the annual and interim financial statements andaltomeetings that review the financial
statements.

The Board met four times in 2018.

* The 22 March Board meeting approved the finandatements for the previous year
and prepared the Shareholders’ Meeting.

* The 13 September Board meeting reviewed the halfhyeosition, particularly the
economic environment at the beginning of the ydw,interim operating statements
and other specific items.

* The 31 May and 29 November Board meetings discugsedconomic environment,
the business and other issues.

The March and September Board meetings were fodolwg an announcement to all
shareholders.

One or more additional Board meetings may be HetttGumstances require, particularly if
there are significant acquisition or investmentapmities.

Board members are not required to be physicallysgre at Board meetings, as video
conferencing is authorised by the Board’s intepratedure. Board members’ attendance rate
is very high. No meetings were called at the itiit@of the directors.

To allow Board members to make the necessary pagpas for meetings, the Chairman
provides them with all necessary information oruwtaents prior to the meeting.

During the Board meetings, each head of departipergents an analysis of the following
points:

- raw materials and energy

- earnings for the period

18



- capital expenditure
- outlook and risks

The directors review the consolidated financiakesteents of the Group and those of the
different departments.
The consolidated statements contain a number dfyseg including:

- changes in shareholders’ equity

- contribution to consolidated income by company

The drafts of the parent company and consolidateaintial statements are submitted to
Board members at least eight days before the Bowedting called to approve the final
financial statements.

Whenever a member of the Board so requests, thentrashall immediately or promptly

provide any additional information or documentsaud party.

3. Shareholder attendance at Shareholders’ Meetings

There are no particular procedures for shareholtesttend Shareholders' Meetings. The
main provisions of the Articles of Association gavieg voting rights and attendance are:

Excerpt from the Articles of Association (Articl2B“The shares are indivisible vis-a-vis the
company. Joint shareholders must be represent8tiaatholders’ Meetings by one of those
shareholders or a single representative of themosimg. If the shareholders are unable to
agree on a representative, the latter shall beiafgabpursuant to an order of the Presiding
Judge of the Commercial Court ruling in summarycpeslings upon the request of the first
joint shareholder to seek legal intervention.

The voting rights attached to shares that have pksiged are exercised by the owner of the
shares. If the ownership of a share is divided] share belongs to the beneficial owner at
Ordinary Shareholders’ Meetings and to the legah@wat Extraordinary Shareholders’
Meetings.”

Excerpt from the Articles of Association (Article8.2): “Fully paid-up shares registered in
the name of the same shareholder for at least 2)vgears shall have double voting rights in
proportion to the fraction of share capital repnésd”.

Excerpt from the Articles of Association (ArticlB.2). “Shareholders’ Meetings are held at
the registered office or any other location indéchin the notice, pursuant to the procedures
and deadlines set forth in the regulatory provision

Excerpt from the Articles of Association (Artick)1 “Any shareholder has the right to attend
shareholders' meetings or to be represented, @movite shares have been fully paid up

The company may also require that registered sheré®ld in the name of their holder in the
company's securities register before a date sahdbe letter and the notice of meeting, must
be no earlier than five (5) days before the datidefShareholders' Meeting”.

Excerpt from the Articles of Association (Articlé.4) “Shareholders may arrange to be
represented by another shareholder or their spdRispresentatives are appointed for one
Shareholders’ Meeting only: said appointment shall/alid for two sessions, an ordinary and
an extraordinary session, provided said sessiondi@d on the same day or within fifteen
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days of each other. Said appointment shall alsealid for successive meetings called with
the same agenda.

Shareholders may vote by post using a form comipligih the regulatory requirements. Said
form shall only be valid when received by the compao later than three days prior to the
meeting. Where applicable, this form may be incoafed with the power-of-attorney form.”

4. Corporate governance

Given the nature of the company, its strong famiigreholding, company values upheld by
its members etc., the Board of Directors does meeidit necessary to refer to a corporate
governance code.

The operation of the Board of Directors is goverbgd set of internal procedural rules and
their amendments are decided at the different mgti

A Code of conduct governing behaviour for the prédm and detection of corruption or
influence-peddling was also approved at the Bo&lir@ctors' meeting of May 2017.

Audit Committee:

The Audit Committee is represented by the BoardDafectors, on which the senior
executives from the Group’s five departments sit.

The Board has not formally established any othempeent committees tasked with
monitoring particular areas. Ad hoc committees rhayput in place according to the issues
that need to be dealt with.

5. Remuneration of the corporate officers

The remuneration policy for the corporate officefsExacompta Clairefontaine is based on
the same principles as those applied to all theiBsoemployees.

Differences in remuneration reflect the level ofpensibility, the specific nature of the
position and experience. Increases in remuneratieapplied on an individual basis.

The Group applies the principle of fixed remunenmatior corporate officers and there is no
variable remuneration. Neither does the Group d@fer stock options, free share allocations,
performance-related shares or supplementary pesstames.

Similarly, corporate officers do not benefit fronmyaretirement commitments or other

advantages awarded in connection with the assumptigermination of duties. Nor do they

receive any other annuities from Exacompta Clairefime.

This remuneration policy shall be submitted to tewaf the shareholders in accordance with
the provisions of the French Commercial Code. Istipulated, pursuant to the regulatory
provisions, that the payment of variable and exoept remuneration is conditional upon the
approval of the remuneration elements of the imbial concerned by the Ordinary
Shareholders’ Meeting under the conditions estaétisin Article L. 225-100 of the French
Commercial Code.
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The amount of remuneration and benefits in kincited below was paid or owed in respect
of fiscal year 2018 to the Chairman and Chief ExgeuOfficer and the Executive Vice
Presidents in view of their duties within the Groupy the companies controlled by

Exacompta Clairefontaine and by Etablissements IEh&tusse, which exercises control of
the company.

Exacompta

Clairefontaine Ets Charles Nusse Total
Group

Fiscal year 2018
in euros

Francois Nusse

Chairman and Chief 220,971 126,616 347,587
Executive Officer

Jean-Marie Nusse

Executive Vice President 159,813 126,616 286,429
Jean-Claude Gilles Nusse 68,072 126,616 194,688
Executive Vice President

The Board assesses the appropriateness of thdodisefees allocated to each director in
view of the tasks and responsibilities incumbenbruphem and the time they require to
perform their duties.

For fiscal years 2017 and 2018, director’s feesevatiocated equally to each director taking
into account their participation in Board meetingke total amount of director’'s fees to be

shared among the directors amounted to €60,000nasdawarded by a decision of the 27
May 2015 Shareholders’ Meeting.
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Exacompta Clairefontaine S.A.

Parent Company Financial Statements for the yed&den
31 December 2018
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BALANCE SHEET AND INCOME STATEMENT

ASSETS (€000) 31/12/2018 31/12/2017
Intangible assets
Concessions, patents, licences, trademarks 14 28
Intangible assets in progress
Property, plant and equipment
Land 3,563 3,619
Buildings 6,612 7,746
Other PP&E 13 18
PP&E in progress 158 230
Non-current financial assets
Equity interests 315,570 315,570
Intercompany receivables 7,483 10,135
Loans 3,840 2,061
Other financial assets 7 7
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 337,260 339,414
Inventories 198 198
Advances and progress payments made on orders 42 25
Receivables
Trade and intercompany receivables 2,533 1,937
Other receivables 46,377 38,102
Prepaid expenses 151 154
Cash and cash equivalents 35,168 60,457
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 84,469 100,873
Currency translation adjustment 27 341
TOTAL ASSETS 421,756 440,628
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (€000) 31/12/2 018 31/12/2017
Share capital 4,526 4,526
Share, merger and contribution premiums 162,566 162,566
Revaluation surplus 485 485
Reserves
Statutory reserve 453 453
Other reserves 119,740 132,026
Retained earnings
Net income/(loss) for the year 5,487 (9,231)
Regulated provisions 1,959 2,334
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 295,216 293,159
Provisions
For contingent liabilities 27 a7
For charges 363 336
TOTAL PROVISIONS 390 383
Financial liabilities
Bank loans and borrowings 36,273 46,717
Operating payables
Trade payables 210 261
Taxes and social security contributions payable 1,146 1,142
Other payables 88,490 98,643
Deferred income 31 29
TOTAL PAYABLES 126,150 146,792
Currency translation adjustment 294
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS 421,756 440,628

EQUITY
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INCOME STATEMENT (€000) 2018 2017
Revenues 1,192 1,278
Operating subsidies

trgr?:firrials of depreciation, amortisation and prongs expense 6,579 6,658
Other income 456 449

REVENUE FROM OPERATIONS 8,227 8,385
Purchases and other supplies 1
Other purchases and external expenses 1,847 1,720
Taxes, duties and similar payments 388 411
Salaries and wages 3,710 3,794
Social security contributions 1,478 1,503
Increases in depreciation/amortisation of nonentrassets 875 877
Provision charges 30 49
Other expenses 68 68

OPERATING EXPENSES 8,396 8,423

OPERATING INCOME/(LOSS) (169) (38)
Financial income from equity investments 4,748 4,584
Income from other securities and receivables from-current asse 25 22
Other interest and similar income 739 740
Reversals of provisions, expense transfers 47 76
Positive currency translation adjustments 243 50
Net profit on sales of marketable securities

FINANCIAL INCOME 5,802 5,472
Increases in depreciation, amortisation and gions 27 12,047
Interest expense and similar expenses 1,367 1,191
Negative currency translation adjustments 78 628
Net expenses on sales of marketable securities

FINANCIAL EXPENSES 1,472 13,866

NET FINANCIAL INCOME/(EXPENSE) 4,330 (8,394)

INCOME/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXES 4,161 (8,432)
Extraordinary income

On operating transactions 62
On capital transactions 560
Reversals of provisions, expense transfers 505 356

EXTRAORDINARY INCOME 1,127 356

Extraordinary expenses
On operating transactions 167
On capital transactions 575

Increases in depreciation, amortisation and gions 130 163

EXTRAORDINARY EXPENSES 705 330

NET EXTRAORDINARY INCOME/(EXPENSE) 422 26
Income taxes (904) 825

NET INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 5,487 (9,231)
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NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

1. KEY EVENTS OF THE YEAR

Notes to the balance sheet prior to earnings apjptam for the year ended 31/12/2018, for
which:

* Total assets amounted to €421,756,174
* Net income amounted to €5,487,415.54

1.1. Accounting principles, rules and methods

General accounting conventions have been appliedcompliance with the principle of
prudence, in accordance with the following undedyassumptions:

* going concern;
* constant accounting methods from one year to the ne
* accruals concept, in accordance with the genelak rtegarding the preparation and
presentation of annual financial statements.
The basic method used to value the items recosi#fteihistorical cost method.

The financial statements are prepared in accordartbeFrench accounting standards authority
(ANC) Regulations 2014-03 et seq. regarding theé&hrechart of accounts.

1.2. Comparability of the financial statements

The fiscal year is a period of 12 months that rfuosy 01/01/2018 to 31/12/2018.

1.3. Changes in accounting methods

There were no changes in the valuation and presamtaethods applied to the parent company
financial statements for the fiscal year ended cmexbto the previous year.

1.4. Key events of the year

There are no significant events warranting disalesid specific information.
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2. ACCOUNTING RULES AND METHODS

2.1. Fixed assets
2.1.1Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment
Valuation:

Fixed assets are valued at acquisition cost (psechmice excluding ancillary expenses) or
production cost.

Depreciation and amortisation:

Depreciation and amortisation are calculated ugdhmg straight line method based on the
estimated useful life of each asset componentherfidllowing bases:

o Software 1to 3 years
o Buildings 25 to 40 years
o Fixtures and furnishings 10 to 20 years
o Office supplies and computer hardware 3 to Hrye

The difference between tax-related and economicedegiion/amortisation is recognised under
accelerated depreciation/amortisation.

Write-downs:

At the end of each year, the company assessealhe of its fixed assets to determine whether
there are indications of a loss in value. If se, thcoverable value of the asset is estimatebelf t
recoverable value is less than the book value, ilerdown is taken for the amount of the
difference.

2.1.2 Non-current financial assets

The gross value consists of the purchase costj@ixg) ancillary expenses.

If fair value is less than gross value, a write-daw/taken for the amount of the difference.

The fair value of equity interests is assessedhenbtisis of the fair value of the shareholders’
equity, as measured based on discounted future flcags and net debt. The outlook of each
subsidiary or group of subsidiaries is taken irtooaint, in which case consolidated data may be
included in the assessment.

2.2. Inventories

Inventories include the purchase of resinous woademn 1997.
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2.3. Receivables and payables

Valuation and impairment:

Receivables and payables are valued at their nbramaunt. A write-down is taken against
receivables when their fair value is less thanrtheok value.

Receivables and payables denominated in foreigrenares:

These items are valued using the closing exchaatgeon the balance sheet date.

Differences resulting from this valuation are refgml as currency translation adjustments, in
assets or liabilities. Provisions are recordeduiorealised foreign exchange losses recognised
under assets.

2.4. Cash

Short-term cash:

Short-term needs are financed by commercial pgseed by Exacompta Clairefontaine. A fixed
rate determined at the moment of issue is paidhencbommercial paper, which has a fixed
maturity and a maximum term of 365 days.

There was no commercial paper outstanding at yeedr-€he maximum amount issuable was
€125 million.

Lines of credit:

Lines of credit are in place with several banksdaotal amount of €135 million, with maturities
not exceeding five years. The term of drawdowngearfrom ten days to twelve months. As at
31 December 2018, none of these lines of creditiest used.

Marketable securities:

Marketable securities are assets held for tradiihg. book value of €18,378,000 is their market
value at 31 December 2018. The book value is gqguak fair value.

2.5. Financial instruments

Transactions performed to hedge exchange ratearskson-material.
The Group used derivative products mainly to heagainst interest rate risks in the form of
interest rate swaps. There were no contracts og@i81/12/2018.

2.6. Accelerated depreciation/amortisation

Accelerated depreciation consists of the differermween the depreciation calculated
according to tax practices and that calculated raloog to the straight line method based on the
estimated useful life.

Accelerated depreciation totalled €1,959,000 at-gedal.
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2.7. Provisions for contingent liabilities and charges

2.7.1Provisions for retirement indemnities

The method used to calculate the provision is tiegepted unit credit method. The discount rate
is determined using the French average bond meatestbased on blue chip corporate bonds.

The calculation is based on the following main agstions:

» probability of retirement from the company, turngweath

» total amount of benefits outstanding under the lwaadd packaging“Cartonnage”)
collective agreement

* retirement age: between 60 and 67 years of agendeygeon the employee's year of birth
and status

» social security contributions rate: 45%

» discount rate: 0.93%

A provision for the full amount of the retiremenbnemitment — including social security
contributions — was taken at year-end and tota&ktb,000.

2.7.2 Other provisions

Other provisions recorded correspond to foreignharge losses resulting from currency
translation differences for €27,000 and a €17,@8tovision at 31/12/2018.

2.8. Competitiveness and employment tax credit (Crédit @mpo6t pour la compétitivité et
I'emploi — CICE)

The CICE tax credit amounted to €11,000 for fisgedr 2018. It is recorded as a reduction in
personnel expenses.

This tax credit is designed to finance capital exiieire and investment in research, training,
hiring, environmental or energy transition and tdeonstitution of working capital.

In accordance with the law, the CICE was not usedirance an increase in dividends
distributed or corporate officers’ remuneration.
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3. OTHER INFORMATION

3.1. Company consolidating the company’s financial statments

Exacompta Clairefontaine is 80.46% owned by EtsriéadNusse SA, a French limited company
(société anonymewith an Executive Board and a Supervisory Boavilh a share capital of
€1,603,248, registered at 138 Quai de JemmapeD7/Batis.

3.2. Staff

The average headcount of the parent company totdlle persons in 2018 (2 administrative
managers and 39 sales staff).

3.3. Tax consolidation

A tax consolidation agreement was concluded withha French companies. This agreement is
automatically renewed every year.
The parent company of the tax group is Exacompaaré€fbntaine.
The reported tax expense is the expense that wwawd been incurred in the absence of tax
consolidation, subject to the following provisions:

* no limit on the profit against which loss carryf@mls may be applied

» refunding of tax credits not applied by the compaumgn these credits may be applied by

the parent company

The tax savings realised by the parent companyrettened to the subsidiaries when they
become profitable and can charge their own losses.

The tax group recorded tax income of €843,000 €dr&2

3.4. Remuneration of administrative and management bode

The members of the Board of Directors receive mourgeration from the company.
The total amount of director’s fees to be sharedragithe directors for 2018 is €60,000 and was
awarded by a decision of the 27 May 2015 Sharehslteeting.

3.5. Related party transactions

No material non-arm’s length transactions involvietated parties were executed.

3.6. Off-balance sheet commitments

The companies that head sub-groups (Exacomptatdrmsede Clairefontaine, Clairefontaine
Rhodia, AFA and Photoweb) guarantee all repaymehteir subsidiaries that borrow from
their parent company.

Exacompta Clairefontaine jointly and severally gudees payment to Exeltium of all liabilities
in respect of purchases of blocks of electricitgtcacted by Papeteries de Clairefontaine.
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4. BALANCE SHEET AND INCOME STATEMENT DATA

Share capital

Number of shares

Par value (€)

At 1 January 1,131,480 4
At 31 December 1,131,480 4

Change in shareholders’ equity (€000)

Shareholders’ equity at 31/12/2017 293,159

Dividends distributed (3,058)

Change in regulated provisions (375)

Net income for fiscal year 2018 5,487

Shareholders’ equity at 31/12/2018 295,216
Change in gross non-current assets

Gross value Other Gross value

€000 b/fwd Purchases Sales activity o/fwd
Concessions, patents, licences 331 78 253
I ntangible assets 331 78 253
Land 3,628 52 3,576
Buildings and fixtures 21,447 43 895 198 20,793
Other PP&E 124 1 123
PP&E in progress 230 126 (198) 158
Property, plant and equipment 25,429 169 948 24,650
Equity interests 352,570 352,570
Intercompany receivables 10,135 798 3,450 7,483
Loans 2,061 3,000 1,221 3,840
Other financial assets 7 7
Non-current financial assets 364,773 3,798 4,671 363,900
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Change in depreciation/amortisation of non-currentassets

Amounts - Write-backs Provisions
€000 bifwd Additions | 14 disposals|  c/fwd
Concessions, patents, licences 303 14 78 239
I ntangible assets 303 14 78 239
Land 9 4 13
Buildings and fixtures 13,701 852 372 14,181
Other PP&E 106 5 1 110
Property, plant and equipment 13,816 861 373 14,304
Table of subsidiaries and equity interests (€)
Subsidiaries Sharsn%apltal % interest rc?:: :/Zslue Dividends
shareholders’ | ”° 9 received
- net value
equity
PAPETERIES DE CLAIREFONTAINE
88480 Etival Clairefontaine o000 100% | josrooriol 2,451,000
SIREN no. 402 965 297 R R
EXACOMPTA d
75010 Paris Sgéggggg 100% 1;823%38; 1,525,500
SIREN no. 702 047 564 ' ’ ' N
AFA .
75010 Paris 45 asa90d  100% ESONe
SIREN no. 582 090 452 AR 099,839
CLAIREFONTAINE RHODIA 22.500,004 40,912,423
68490 Ottmarsheim 34554201 100% 40912 423
SIREN no. 339 956 781 e T
PHOTOWEB
38120 Saint-Egreve 17 248%(;%(()5 100% jgggg;gg 771,500
SIREN no. 428 083 703 ' ’ ' ’
Equity interests
Forestry cooperative variable non- 3,038
FORET & BOIS DE L'EST material 3,038
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Change in provisions and write-downs

Aot | aaaons | Reversels | fevesas | Projsins
Accelerated depreciation/amortisation 2,834 130 505 1,959
Regulated provisions 2,334 130 505 1,959
Foreign exchange losses a7 27 a7 27
Pensions and similar obligations 336 30 20 346
Other expenses 0 17 17
;r]g}/;gns for contingent liabilities and 383 74 67 390
Equity interests 37,000 37,000
Write-downs 37,000 37,000
Increases and reversals
0 operating 30 20
o financial 27 47
0 extraordinary 147 505
Total 204 572
Receivables schedule
Receivables dug€000) aﬁgousr?ts Les;etgran 1 > 1 year
Non-current receivables
Intercompany receivables 7,483 7,483
Loans 3,840 1,050 2,790
Other financial assets 7 7
Current receivables
Trade receivables 2,533 2,533
Personnel and related 11 11
Income taxes 7,343 7,343
Value added tax 23 23
Group and associates 39,000 39,000
Other receivables
Prepaid expenses 151 151
Total 60,391 50,111 10,280
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Payables schedule

Payables dug€000) agrocijsris Les;etgran 1 1-5 years > 5 years
Bank loans and borrowings 36,273 10,439 25,396 438
Trade payables 210 210
Personnel and related 5p4 504
Social security organisations 488 488
Value added tax 119 119
Other taxes, duties and similar items 35 35
Group and associates 87,311 87,211
Other payables 1,279 1,279
Deferred income 31 31

Total 126,150 100,316 25,396 438

Breakdown of prepaid expenses and deferred income

€000 Prepaid expenses Deferred income
Operating income/expenses 117
Financial transactions 34 31
Total 151 31

Breakdown of accrued expenses and accrued income

€000 Accrued expenses Accrued income
Invoices not received/to be issued 99 104
Tax and social security
: 644
payables/receivables
Financial transactions 23 385
Total 766 489
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Breakdown of expense transfers

€000 Expense transfers
Transfer of external expenses 1,377
Transfer of personnel expenses 4,974
Transfer of taxes & duties 208
Total 6,559
Extraordinary income and expenses
€000 2018 2017
Sale of property, plant and equipment 560
Reversal of accelerated depreciation 505 356
Other extraordinary reversals
Other income 62
Total extraordinary income 1,127 356
Sale of property, plant and equipment 575
Increase in accelerated depreciation 130 163
Other extraordinary additions
Other expenses 167
Total extraordinary expenses 705 330
Deferred and future tax position
€000 (at corporate income tax rate of 28%) Amount
Tax on:
Accelerated depreciation/amortisation 549
Total increases 549
Prepaid tax on:
Paid holiday 83
Other 97
Total reductions 180
Net deferred tax position 369
Tax loss carryforwards 380
Net future tax position (380)
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Breakdown of income taxes

Breakdown — €000 Income Taxes owed Net income
before tax after tax
Income from ordinary activities 4,161 4,161
Extraordinary income 42p 422
Tax expense
* Tax consolidation gain (843) (843)
e Other tax effects (61) (61)
Total 4,583 (904) 5,487
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Exacompta Clairefontaine S.A.
Statutory Auditors’ Reports

o Report on the parent company financial statements

o Special report on regulated agreements and commisme
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SEREC AUDIT BATT AUDIT

Statutory Auditor Statutory Auditor
Member of the Paris Institute of Statutory Auditors Member of the Nancy Institute of Statutory Audstor
70 bis rue Mademoiselle 25 rue du Bois de la Crediep
75015 PARIS 54500 VANDOEUVRE LES NANCY

REPORT OF THE STATUTORY AUDITORS ON THE PARENT COMRY
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2018

Dear Shareholders of EXACOMPTA CLAIREFONTAINE,

Opinion

In accordance with the assignment entrusted tyy®br Shareholders’ Meeting, we have audited the
financial statements of EXACOMPTA CLAIREFONTAINE rfehe year ended 31 December 2018,
which are appended to this report.

We hereby certify that the parent company finansiatements are, with regard to French accounting
rules and principles, in order and accurate antly/faresent the results of operations for the pasr
and the financial position, assets and liabilibéthe company at the end of that year.

The opinion expressed above is consistent witltdmeent of our report to the Audit Committee of the
Board of Directors.

Basis of the opinion

Audit standards
We performed our audit in accordance with the psiftnal standards applicable in France. We
believe that the evidence we have gathered proddeasonable basis for our opinion.

Our responsibilities pursuant to these standardssat forth in the section "Responsibilities of the
Statutory Auditors relating to the audit of thegrarcompany financial statements" of this report.

I ndependence

We have performed our audit in compliance with thies of independence applicable to us, for the
period running from 1 January 2018 to the datessfié of our report, and in particular we have not
provided services prohibited under Article 5, paap 1, of regulation (EU) No 537/2014 or the
French Code of Ethics for statutory auditors.

Justification of our assessments - Key audit matter

Pursuant to the provisions of Articles L. 823-9 &d823-7 of the French Commercial Code on the
justification of our assessments, we draw youmétia to the key audit matters relating to the ék
material misstatements which, in our professiondgment, have been the most significant for the
audit of the parent company financial statememd,feow we addressed these risks.

The assessments carried out are part of our alitliearent company financial statements, taken as
a whole, and formed our opinion, which is expresabdve. We do not express an opinion on
individual items of these financial statements.
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Valuation of equity interests
Risk identified

Equity interests, of a net amount of €316 milliom the balance sheet as at 31 December 2018,
represent one of the most significant items of blaéance sheet. They are initially recognised at
acquisition cost and depreciated based on thelyiogramount.

As stated in Note 2.1.2 to the financial statemethis carrying amount is assessed on the basigof t
fair value of the shareholders’ equity, as measbesixd on discounted future cash flows and net debt
The outlook of each subsidiary or group of subsidfais taken into account, in which case
consolidated data may be included in the assessment

The estimated carrying amount of these equity @sttist based in particular on projected discounted
future cash flows, requires the use of assumpténts estimates and the exercise of judgement by
management.

Competition and the economic environment facingaiersubsidiaries may lead to a decline in their
business and a deterioration of the operating imcom

Therefore and given the uncertainties inherentettain elements and in particular the probability o
achievement of the forecasts, we are of the opiti@ the proper valuation of equity interests,
intercompany receivables and related provisionsi¢és constitute a key audit matter.

Audit procedures implemented to address this risk

To assess the reasonableness of the estimatedngamynount of equity interests, based on
information provided to us, our work consisted rhain verifying that the estimate of these values
determined by management is based on an adequstific@ion of the valuation method and the
figures used and in:

- obtaining the cash flow and business forecastietoncerned entities prepared by their operalion
departments;

- verifying the consistency of assumptions usedfar periods with the economic environment at the
accounts closing and preparation dates;

- comparing the forecasts used for prior periodth whe corresponding actual figures in order to
assess the achievement of previous targets;

- verifying that the value obtained from the cashwfforecasts has been adjusted for the debt amount
of the entity under consideration.

Besides the assessment of the value in use ofjthigy énterests, our work also consisted in asggssi
the recoverability of intercompany receivablesigit of the analyses of equity interests.

Specific verifications

We also performed the specific verifications regdiby the legal and regulatory texts, in accordance
with the professional standards applicable in Feanc

Information provided in the management report amd dther documentation addressed to
shareholders on the financial position and the alriinancial statements
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We have no comments to make about the accuracgagistency with the parent company financial
statements of the information provided in the repufrthe Board of Directors and in the other

documentation addressed to the shareholders camgehe financial position and the parent company
financial statements.

We confirm the accuracy and consistency with theuah financial statements of the information
relating to payment terms referred to in Article4a1-4 of the French Commercial Code.

Report on corporate governance

We hereby certify that the Board of Directors' némm corporate governance contains the information
required by Article L. 225-37-4 of the French Comaoi@ Code. As required by law, we hereby
inform you that that the information set out in iéle L. 225-37-3 is provided in the Board of
Directors' report on corporate governance for tHeaithan and Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Vice Presidents only. We cannot theretamtify whether this report contains the required
information, nor the accuracy and fair presentatibinformation on remuneration and benefits paid
to corporate officers.

Other information

Pursuant to the law, we made certain that the atif@mmation regarding the identity of the holdefs
the capital or voting rights was communicated to yothe management report.

Information deriving from other legal and regulatory obligations

Appointment of Statutory Auditors
We have been appointed as Statutory Auditors of ERMPTA CLAIREFONTAINE by the
Shareholders' Meeting of 31 May 1996 for SEREC AUBhd of 22 May 2008 for BATT AUDIT.

On 31 December 2018, SEREC AUDIT was in the 23rdinaous year of its engagement and BATT
AUDIT in the 11th year since the company's shareewadmitted for trading on a regulated market.

Responsibilities of senior management and of thosdarged with corporate governance relating
to the parent company financial statements

It is the management's responsibility to prepaegpdrent company financial statements represeating
true and fair view in accordance with the Frenctoaating rules and principles and to establish the
internal control that it deems necessary for tleparation of the parent company financial statement
free of material misstatements, whether due tadfiauerror.

During the preparation of the parent company fimgnstatements, it is the responsibility of
management to assess the company's ability tonuentas a going concern, to present in these
financial statements, if applicable, the necess#nrmation on the going concern basis and to apply
the standard accounting policy for a going concamess it is planned to wind up the company or
discontinue operations.

It is the responsibility of the Audit committee thie Board of Directors to monitor the process Ffar t
preparation of financial information and the effeehess of internal control and risk management
systems, and, where applicable, of the internait @ydtem, as regards the procedures relatingeto th
preparation and processing of accounting and fiahimdormation.

The parent company financial statements were apprby the Board of Directors.
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Responsibilities of Statutory Auditors relating to the audit of the parent company financial
statements

Audit objective and approach

It is our responsibility to prepare a report on pla@ent company financial statements. Our objeasive

to obtain reasonable assurance that the parentargniimancial statements, taken as a whole, aee fre
of material misstatements. Reasonable assuranee higgh level of assurance without however
guaranteeing that an audit performed in accordanitethe professional standards applicable would
systematically detect any material misstatemensshiements may be due to fraud or errors and are
considered as material when it is reasonable teaxihat they can, taken separately or together,
influence the economic decisions that users ofittamcial statements take based on them.

As set out in Article L. 823-10-1 of the French Guarcial Code, our engagement relating to the
certification of the financial statements doescwisist in guaranteeing the viability or qualityyoiur
company's management.

As part of an audit performed in accordance wittlittng standards applicable in France, the Stagutor
Auditor exercises their professional judgementulgiwmut the audit. Furthermore:

- the auditor identifies and assesses the riskisthie parent company financial statements contain
material misstatements, whether due to fraud aredefines and implements audit procedures to
address these risks, and gathers the evidencéhthauditor deems sufficient and appropriate to
base their opinion. The risk of non-detection shaterial misstatement due to a fraud is higher
than that of a material misstatement due to arr,esnoce a fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
wilful omissions, misrepresentations or the circemion of internal control;

- the auditor examines the aspects of the interaatrol system relevant to the audit in order to
define appropriate audit procedures under the wistances, and not with the objective of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness ofritexmal control;

- the auditor assesses the appropriateness attweinting policies used and the reasonableness of
the accounting estimates made by management, hasatble disclosures on these provided in the
financial statements;

- the auditor assesses the appropriateness of geaeat's application of the going concern
principle and, depending on the evidence gathevetkbther or not there is a significant
uncertainty relating to these events or circumsarnbat might compromise the company's ability
to continue as a going concern. This assessméuatsisd on the evidence gathered up to the date
of the auditor’'s report, it being noted howevertthabsequent circumstances or events could
compromise the going concern basis. If the audgdoncludes that there is a significant
uncertainty, they draw the reader's attention witheir report to the disclosures provided in the
parent company financial statements regarding uhisertainty or, if such disclosures are not
provided or are not relevant, issues a qualifieidiop or refuse to issue an opinion;

- the auditor assesses the overall presentatiotheofparent company financial statements and
assesses whether the parent company financiairetate reflect the underlying transactions and
events in such a way as to give a true and faw.vie

Report to the Audit committee of the Board of Oivex

We submit to the Audit Committee of the Board ofdators a report defining the scope of the audit
work and the audit programme implemented, as veetha findings based on our work. We also draw
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their attention, where applicable, to significamernal control weaknesses that we have identifisd,
regards procedures relating to the preparatiomanckessing of accounting and financial information.

The report submitted to the Audit Committee of Bward of Directors also contains information on
the risks of material misstatements that we deetmdthve been the most significant for the audit of
the parent company financial statements and wliiiehefore constitute key audit matters, which we
are required to describe in this report.

We also submit to the Audit Committee of the Boafr@irectors the declaration set out in Articlefé o
Regulation (EU) No 537-2014 confirming our indepemck, within the meaning of the rules
applicable in France as they are defined in pddraa Articles L. 822-10 to L. 822-14 of the Frénc
Commercial Code and the French Code of Ethicstidutory auditors. If necessary, we discuss with
the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors thgks to our independence and the safeguards
applied.

Executed in Paris and Vandceuvre-les-Nancy, 30 2040

The Statutory Auditors,

SEREC AUDIT BATT AUDIT

Benoit GRENIER Pascal FRANCOIS
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SEREC AUDIT BATT AUDIT

Statutory Auditor Statutory Auditor
Member of the Paris Institute of Statutory Auditors Member of the Nancy Institute of Statutory Audstor
70 bis rue Mademoiselle 25 rue du Bois de la Crediep
75015 PARIS 54500 VANDOEUVRE LES NANCY

SPECIAL REPORT OF THE STATUTORY AUDITORS ON THE
REGULATED AGREEMENTS AND COMMITMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2018

Dear Shareholders of EXACOMPTA CLAIREFONTAINE,

In our role as the statutory auditors of your compave hereby present to you our report on the
regulated agreements and commitments.

It is our responsibility to inform you, on the basif the information provided to us, of the essgnti
characteristics and conditions of the agreemerdammitments of which we have been informed or
which we have discovered during the course of awtitaas well as the reasons justifying the
company'’s interest in said agreements and commisneavithout having to express an opinion on
their usefulness or appropriateness or to seekheutxistence of other agreements and commitments.
It is your responsibility, pursuant to Article R2231 of the French Commercial Code, to assess the
interest attached to entering into these agreenagiteommitments with a view to their approval.

It is also our responsibility, where appropriate, pgrovide you with the information stipulated in
Article R. 225-31 of the French Commercial Codeslation to the performance, during the past year,
of those agreements and commitments already applovehe Shareholders’ Meeting.

We have carried out the procedures that we judgedssary pursuant to the professional policies of
the Compagnie Nationale des Commissaires aux Comndtagonal Institute of Statutory Auditors)
relating to this assignment.

Agreements and commitments submitted to the Sharekders’ Meeting for approval

We have not been informed of any agreement or comenit authorised during the past year and

requiring to be submitted to the Shareholders’ hgefor approval pursuant to the provisions of
Article L. 225-38 of the French Commercial Code.
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Agreements and commitments already approved by th8hareholders’ Meeting

We hereby inform you that we have not been inforraéény agreement or commitment already
approved by the Shareholders’ Meeting and whodemmeance continued during the past year.

Executed in Paris and Vandceuvre-lés-Nancy, 30 20409

The Statutory Auditors,

SEREC AUDIT BATT AUDIT

Benoit GRENIER Pascal FRANCOIS
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Exacompta Clairefontaine S.A.

Consolidated financial statements for the year énde
31 December 2018
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Consolidated balance sheet

€000 31/12/2018 31/12/2017
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 256,563 259,943
Intangible assets 13,170 12,779
Intangible assets — Goodwill 26,924 26,924
Property, plant and equipment 213,054 216,924
Financial assets 2,464 2,442
Deferred taxes 951 874
CURRENT ASSETS 429,947 429,890
Inventories 197,155 171,998
Trade and other receivables 108,080 113,927
Advances 1,700 2,207
Taxes receivable 7,667 5,140
Cash and cash equivalents 115,345 136,618
TOTAL ASSETS 686,510 689,833
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 402,269 393,900
Share capital 4,526 4,526
Capital reserves 213,423 225,709
Consolidated reserves 173,449 152,381
Currency translation reserve (1,609) (1,582)
Net income — Group share 12,480 12,866
Shareholders’ equity — Group share 402,269 393,900
Minority interests 0 0
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 128,012 135,099
Interest-bearing debt 80,826 88,144
Deferred taxes 23,729 23,626
Provisions 23,457 23,329
CURRENT LIABILITIES 156,229 160,834
Trade payables 61,013 61,815
Short-term portion of interest-bearing debt 37,69 33,442
Provisions 2,192 4,354
Tax liabilities 163 554
Other payables 55,264 60,669
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND 686,510 689,833

LIABILITIES
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Notes

(2.1.4)
(2.1.4)
(2.1.5)
(2.1.6)

(2.4)

(.2.1)

(2.2.2)

(2.2.3)

(2.6)
(2.4)

(2.5)

(2.6)

(2.5)

(2.8)



Consolidated income statement

€000 2018 2017
Revenue 603,099 597,709
- Sales of products 594,516 589,898
- Sales of services 8,583 7,811
Other operating income 12,258 13,198
- Reversal of depreciation/amortisation 23 487
- Subsidies 452 721
- Other income 11,783 11,990
Change in inventories of finished products andkwnfprogress 15,067 (101)
Capitalised production costs 1,334 1,207
Goods and materials used (309,599) (280,588)
External expenses (103,761) (98,843)
Personnel expenses (155,198) (160,150)
Taxes and duties (12,522) (11,793)
Depreciation/amortisation (28,124) (29,742)
Other operating expenses (7,632) (8,316)
OPERATING INCOME — before goodwill impairment 14,922 22,581
Goodwill impairment (1,342)
OPERATING INCOME — after goodwill impairment 14,922 21,239
Financial income 3,076 2,595
Financial expenses (3,074) (4,393)
Net financial items 2 (1,798)
Income taxes (2,444) (6,575)
Net income after tax 12,480 12,866
Net income — minority share 0 0
Net income — Group share 12,480 12,866
Net income for the period 12,480 12,866
Number of shares 1,131,480 1,131,480
EARNINGS PER SHARE (basic and diluted) 11.03 11.37
Comprehensive income statement
€000 2018 2017
Net income for the period 12,480 12,866
. f(i:nu;:]iril;ysttggil]aet;]cg differences arising from foreantities @7) (414)
* Actuarial gains/(losses) (320) (887)
» Changes in scope of consolidation 0 0
Total comprehensive income 12,133 11,565
Attributable to:
- minority interests 0 0
- the Group 12,133 11,565

Notes

(.14,
2.1.5)

(2.2.1)

(.2.1)

(2.12)

(.14,
2.1.5)

(.14,
2.1.1)

(2.12)

(2.4, 2.10)
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ges in consolidated shareholders’ equity

equity

Balance at 31/12/2016 385,747 1,668 387,415
Currency translation difference (414) (414)
Actuarial gains and losses (887) (887)
Other changes (470) (470)
Acquisition of exclusive control of Photoweb (1,668) (1,668)
Total transactions not posted to earnings (1,771) (1,668) (3,439)
Net income for the year 12,866 12,866
Dividends (2,942) (2,942)
Balance at 31/12/2017 393,900 0 393,900
Currency translation difference (27) (27)

Actuarial gains and losses and other variation$ 0XB2 (320)

Other changes (709) (709)

Total transactions not posted to earnings (1,056) (1,056)
Net income for the year 12,480 12,480
Dividends * (3,055) (3,055)

Balance at 31/12/2018 402,269 0 402,269

* Dividend paid out by Exacompta Clairefontaine€at70 per share.

Statement of consolidated cash flows

The opening and closing cash in the cash flow istate is determined as follows:

€000 31/12/2018 31/12/2017
Cash and cash equivalents (assets) 115,345 136,618
Bank overdrafts payable (37,565) (33,406)
Accrued interest on debt (32) (36)
Cash per statement of cash flows 77,748 103,176

The reconciliation to the “Short-term portion ofarest-bearing debt” recorded in liabilities is

presented in Note 2.6.
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Statement of cash flows

€000 2018 2017 Notes

Total consolidated net income 12,480 12,866

Elimination of non-cash and non-operating expeasesincome:

«  Depreciation, amortisation and provisions (2.1.410
«  Change in deferred taxes 26,%1;3 2(75;‘2)%? 2-1(-26;1)2-5)
¢ Post-tax gains on asset sales '
. . 1,036 (684)
e Currency translation adjustments @27) (414)
e Other (1,029) (1,357)
Cash flow of consolidated companies 38,706 37,253
* Change in operating working capital (25,088) 657 Balance
«  Change in income taxes (2,242) 811 sheet
* Income taxes paid (676) (4,697)
(1) Net cash flow from operating activities 10,700 34,024
»  Purchases of fixed assets (26,767) (32,061) 21410
»  Sales of fixed assets 1,097 3,920 2.1.6)
e Changes in consolidation — acquisitions (85) (1,668)
e Changes in consolidation — disposals
(2) Net cash flow from investing activities (25,755) (29,809)
» Dividends paid (11,370) (9,727) (Change in
« Dividends received 8,315 6,785 shifgl:l;;)iers
. New borrowings 27,045 82,460
e Loans repaid (34,011) (42,590)
* Interest paid (923) (918)
+ Interest received 571 556
(3) Net cash flow from financing activities (10,373) 36,566
(1+2+3) Total cash flow (25,428) 40,781
Opening cash 103,176 62,395
Closing cash 77,748 103,176
Change in cash (25,428) 40,781
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Presentation of the consolidated financial statemés

1- General principles — statement of compliance

The EXACOMPTA CLAIREFONTAINE Group consolidated &ncial statements are prepared
in accordance with IFRS (International Financiap®#ng Standards), as adopted within the
European Union.

The Exacompta Clairefontaine Group consolidatedrfonal statements were approved by the
Board of Directors on 28 March 2019. They will & final until they have been approved by
the Shareholders’ Meeting.

2- Adoption of international standards

Mandatory standards, amendments and interpretafid?®18:

X

X

IFRS 9 —Financial instruments

The Group does not apply hedge accounting.

Given the lack of statistical or forward-lookingonmation, credit risk with regard to trade
receivables is calculated and updated in accordartbandividual late payment scenarios.
The Group applies the simplified method to calaulamnpairment, given that trade
receivables do not include a significant financamgangement and contract terms are short.
Credit risk is adjusted on the basis of expectad kestimates and the historical loss rate
has been kept down thanks to the debt monitoringiesys applied by the Group.
Consequently, the application of IFRS 9 did notehavmaterial impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

IFRS 15 -Revenue from contracts with customers

IFRS 15 entails no changes in the Group’s previpakcy for recognising revenue.
Analysis of the potential impact of IFRS 15, inahgl with regard to advertising costs,
shows no impact on operating income and requiraeciassification between revenue and
expenses.

The terms of contracts entered into by the Gro@pnamch shorter than one year and the
contracts do not include a significant financinthagement.

There are no changes to the method for recognisam@ble consideration payable to
clients, which mainly consists of volume discourteck margins and early payment
reductions. These are deducted from revenue. Tine spplies to merchandising services
and advertising services rendered by clients, whichnot constitute a distinct service
received.

Amendments to IFRS 2 <€lassification and measurement of share-based patyme
transactions
IFRIC 22 —Foreign currency transactions and advance consitiena

Standards, amendments and interpretations adogtdtelEuropean Union and mandatory after

2018
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x |FRS 16 -Leases
x  Amendments to IFRS 9PRre-payment features with negative compensation
x |FRIC 23 —Uncertainty over income tax treatments

The Group did not apply any optional standard, atrment or interpretation.

Implementation of IFRS 16

The Group will apply IFRS 16 easesrom 1 January 2019 using the simplified retrospec
method. Consequently, the 2018 comparative accquesented in the 2019 financial statements
will not be restated.

The commitments to be entered as assets are cen®%86 of real estate leases, including those
concluded with Ets Charles Nusse. Simulation reduilh an estimated lease liability of around
€35 million, at non-discounted value, and a rightt®e asset for a similar amount.

The latest valuations are underway and the finglaich on the Group financial statements will
depend on the discount rate applied to future paysnas well as a final review of the contract
portfolio.

Standards, amendments and interpretations notdepted by the European Union

x  Amendments to IAS 19 Plan amendment, curtailment or settlement
x  Annual improvements 2015-2017 cycle

The Group is currently analysing the impact of ¢hesw standards and amendments.

3- Bases of preparation of the financial statements

The financial statements are presented in euragded to the nearest one thousand euros.
They are prepared on the basis of historical cggh the exception of financial instruments,
which are stated at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements under IFR&uires the exercise of judgement by

management in making estimates and assumptionfidkatan impact on the application of the

accounting policies and on the amounts of the askalilities, income and expenses.

The underlying estimates and assumptions are maskdlon past experience and other factors
deemed reasonable in view of the circumstancesy @l form the basis for the exercise of

judgement required for determining the book valoésassets and liabilities that cannot be

obtained directly from other sources. Real valuay differ from the estimated values.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are redewn an ongoing basis. The impact of

changes in accounting estimates is recorded dtimm@eriod in which the change occurs and all
subsequent periods affected.

The accounting methods described below have bephedpon a consistent basis to all the
periods presented in the consolidated financiaéstants. Furthermore, said methods have been
applied uniformly to all Exacompta ClairefontaineoGp entities.

4- Consolidation of subsidiaries
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The consolidated financial statements include thantial statements of the parent company,
Exacompta Clairefontaine, and those of the entitiestrolled by the parent company (the
“subsidiaries”).

Control means the power to direct, directly or radily, the financial and operating policies of
the entity in order to obtain benefits from itsiaties.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries ackided in the consolidated financial statements
from the date on which control was obtained uhg tdate on which control is no longer held.

The balances shown in the balance sheet, unrediiss#és and gains, and the income and
expenses resulting from Group transactions ardrgited in the consolidation.

Unrealised gains arising from transactions withliafés are eliminated in proportion to the
Group’s equity interest.

Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same watyobly if they do not represent a loss in
value.

5- Foreign currencies

The individual financial statements of each of @®up’s entities are presented in the currency
of the economic environment in which the entity pes. For the purposes of the consolidated
financial statements, the profit or loss and tharicial position of each entity are stated in euros
which is the functional currency of Exacompta G#ontaine S.A. and the currency in which the
consolidated financial statements are presented.

Transactions in foreign currency are recorded atetkchange rate in effect on the date of the
transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated inraifm currency at the balance sheet date are
converted to euros at the closing rate. The cuyréramslation differences resulting from this
conversion are recorded in the income statemetfimascial income or expense, as applicable.

The assets and liabilities of each individual entihat engages in its activity abroad are
converted to euros at the exchange rates in etdtie balance sheet date. Income and expenses
are converted at the average exchange rates foetia, which is a sufficient approximation of
the rates on the transaction dates.

The currency translation differences resulting frilra conversion are recorded under currency
translation adjustments as a separate sharehottgragy account.

6- Business combinations

As of 1 January 2010, business combinations areusted for by the acquisition method in
accordance with revised IFRS Business combinations

Goodwill arising from a business combination isueal as the excess of the consideration
transferred over the net balance, as at the atiguigdate, of identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed, measured at fair value.

Where applicable, the non-controlling interest e acquired entity is measured either at fair
value or at the share of the fair value of assets I@bilities of the subsidiary acquired. This
option is available at each business combinatiehcamnot be changed subsequently.
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In the case of a step acquisition, the share ofintezest held prior to the acquisition date is
measured at its fair value. The related profitosslis recorded in income.

The initial valuation of the business combinatiam be adjusted against goodwill if there is new
information on circumstances existing at the adtjars date. The adjustment period in respect
of the initial valuation is limited to 12 month®in the acquisition date.

The Group records acquisition-related costs asresgsein the periods over which the costs were
incurred and the services rendered.

If a business combination takes place under fava@raonditions, the purchaser records the
corresponding profit under income as at the actjsdate.

A business combination involving a number of eesitunder common control is a grouping in
which all of the entities or operations that areuped are ultimately controlled by the same
party, both before and after the combination, ahdre this control is not temporary.

In the absence of specific provisions in the actiognstandards, the Group applies the book
value method to all transactions involving the tediunder common control.

7- Property, plant and equipment

Group land and buildings are intended for use enptftoduction or supply of goods and services,
or for administrative purposes.

The Group does not hold any material real estatedhould be classified as an investment. The
industrial facilities and other equipment are operaassets for the production or supply of

goods and services.

All Group property, plant and equipment is recordedistorical purchase cost, less accumulated
depreciation and impairment.

Property, plant and equipment under constructiompses assets intended for use in
production and is recorded at cost, less any impait identified.

When items of property, plant and equipment ha¥eemint useful lives, they are recorded as
separate assets. All ongoing service and mainteneosts are recorded as expenses at the time
they are incurred.

Lease agreements that involve the transfer to tioe@sof substantially all the risks and benefits
inherent in owning an asset are classified as Gied@ase agreements.

The respective assets are booked as fixed asdeis @lue or, if lower, at the discounted value
of the minimum lease payments less accumulatecedigion and impairment, as the offset to a
financial liability. The minimum payments under skeagreements are divided between interest
expense and repayment of the debt. The interegnsepis charged to each period covered by
the finance lease agreement so as to obtain aasdnstriodic interest rate on the balance of the
remaining debt shown in liabilities.

These assets are depreciated over their expeatéud life on the same basis as owned assets.

Depreciation is recognised as expenses using th@fst line method, without any residual

value. The depreciation is calculated based orettienated useful life of each component of
fixed assets on the following bases and by year:
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- Land not depreciated

- Buildings 25 to 40 years

- Fixtures and furnishings 10 to 20 years
- Plant and equipment 10 to 20 years
- Other office supplies and computer hardware Bltgears

The useful life of the main assets is reviewed wthenaccounts are closed. Any change in the
useful life is recorded on a prospective basis @samge in an accounting estimate.

8- Intangible assets

Research and development costs

Research costs are recorded as expenses in thie ygach they are incurred.

Development expenses are recorded as a non-casset if the costs can be reliably measured
and if the Group can demonstrate the technical amdmercial feasibility of the product or
procedure, the existence of probable future econdranefits and its intention, as well as the
availability of sufficient resources, to completee tdevelopment of and use or sell the asset.
When the requirements for recording developmenterges in assets are not met, they are
recognised as expenses for the year in which treeyhaurred.

Following a review of development costs incurrée, Group did not capitalise any development
expenses.

Goodwill

Goodwill arises from the acquisition of subsidiaridt is the difference between the purchase
cost and the fair value of identifiable net assaisus contingent liabilities at the acquisition
date.

Goodwill is initially valued at cost and recordeslan asset in accordance with the principles set
out in paragraph 6 above. It is thereafter valuezbat, less accumulated impairment.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwildli®cated to cash generating units (CGUSs)
consisting mainly of subsidiaries or groups of sdibsies with synergies and no independent
cash flows.

These CGUs are largely independent of the condelid&roup and are smaller than the
operating segments defined by IFR®@erating segments

Impairment tests are carried out on all cash géingranits to which goodwill is allocated; these
tests are performed annually, and at each baldrest gate if there is an indication that the unit
may have lost value as specified below in accorelavith the method set out in IAS 36:

x Discount rate equal to the expected market retorah equivalent investment, regardless of
the financing sources. This discount rate is a-frostate applied to post-tax cash flows. Its
use leads to the determination of recoverable gaidentical to those obtained by using a
pre-tax rate applied to pre-tax cash flows.

x  3-year Business Plans approved by management.

x Extrapolation of cash flow from operations beyongears based on a growth rate specific to
the industry.
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If the recoverable value of the cash generatingiariéess than that unit's book value, the loss in
value is first allocated to reducing the book valhfeany goodwill allocated to that cash
generating unit, and then to other assets of titepno rata to the book value of each asset in the
unit.

Impairment of goodwill recorded in the income stag¢at is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Trademarks

Trademarks are recorded as intangible assetsratafaie as at the purchase date. In the absence
of a foreseeable limit on their capacity to gereraet cash flows, the useful life of the
trademarks used by the Group is considered todedinite.

They are not amortised but undergo an impairmesitdace a year and at each balance sheet
date if there is an indication of any loss in vallibe recoverable value is determined based on
expected discounted cash flows.

Expenses for internally generated trademarks greresed as incurred.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets purchased by the Grouprewerded at cost less amortisation and
accumulated impairment.

Amortisation is recognised as an expense undesstitagght line method over the estimated
useful life, on the following bases and by year:

- Patents, licences and software 3 to 8 years
- Other intangible assets 5to 10 years

9- Impairment of property, plant and equipment andngtble assets (excluding goodwill and
trademarks)

At the end of each period, the Group reviews thekbalues of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets in order to determine whetthere is any indication that an asset has
suffered impairment. If it has, the recoverableueabf the asset is estimated in order to
determine the potential impairment.

The recoverable value of an asset is the high#reofair value less costs to sell and the value in
use. The value in use is estimated using the digedufuture cash flows method. If the
recoverable value is estimated to be less thanbtiwk value, impairment is recognised
immediately in expenses in the income statement.

Impairment recorded for an asset during a prioiogemay be reversed if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the eesiole value. However, any book values that
have been increased following a reversal of impanmay not exceed the book value that
would have been determined after depreciation oorfsation, if no impairment had been
recorded. Impairment reversals are recorded immitw@nme statement.

10-Financial assets
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Unconsolidated equity interests are classifiedsaets available for sale and are measured at fair
value; changes in fair value are recorded undeeboiders’ equity.

If the fair value cannot be reliably estimated, iggunterests continue to be measured at
purchase cost. In the event of a write-down, tlss In value is recorded in the income statement.

Intercompany receivables and other non-curreninfireh assets are measured initially at fair
value and subsequently at amortised cost.

11-Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are measured initaligir value and subsequently at amortised
cost. Any losses in value are recorded in the ircetatement when the recoverable value is less
than the book value.

12-Inventories

Inventories are recorded at the lower of cost etd@alisable value. The net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary coudadebusiness, less the estimated cost of
completion and the estimated costs necessary te thaksale.

The cost of inventories includes direct raw matser@sts and direct labour costs, and directly
attributable general expenses incurred to putrilienitories in place in their existing condition.
In general, the cost is calculated using the weiglatverage cost method.

Greenhouse gas emission rights

The Group’s paper subsidiaries engage in an agtilét is regulated by Order no. 2004-330 of
15 April 2004, with the adaptation to French law,the environmental code, of Directive no.
2003/87/EC of the European Parliament and the Ghuestablishing a scheme for trading
greenhouse gas emission allowances, adopted orctbB«d 2003.

An allowance is a unit of account that represeinéseamission of one tonne of carbon dioxide.
The current greenhouse gas emission allowanceasitbocperiod runs from 2013 to 2020.

The Group applies the accounting principles sahfor Regulation 2012-03 of 4 October 2012
on the accounting treatment of greenhouse gas iemigBowances and similar units, as adopted
by the French accounting standards authoriyubrité des normes comptablles ANC).

Pursuant to the regulation, the Group applies ireduction” model, in which the holding of
allowances is linked to a production process thattegates greenhouse gas emissions. The
allowances are used in order to comply with theliregnent to surrender them to the State.

The main features of the model applied by the Giemepas follows:

x  The allowances are recorded under inventories
- Allowances allocated by the State are recordeceiat zalue. They are treated purely in
terms of volume.
- Purchased allowances are recorded at purchase cost.
x Balance sheet valuation
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- Animpairment charge is recorded when the presaloievof inventories is lower than the
book value.
- No specific valuation is carried out in the casealibcated allowances, as they are
recorded at zero value.
x Inventory withdrawal
- The allowances are withdrawn from inventories oroagoing basis in line with actual
CO, emissions. Allocated allowances have no impadherfinancial statements.
- Any gains or losses arising from the sale of eraisallowances are recorded under
operating income.
x Requirements related to greenhouse gas emissions
- The basic requirement to surrender the,@&mission allowances in accordance with
emissions produced remains unchanged from thequre\allocation periods.
- At the end of each reporting period, if the Groagks a sufficient number of allowances
[allocated + purchased] to meet its obligation torender allowances to the State, a
liability representing the value of missing allowas to be purchased is recorded.

13-Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, bdelances and short-term investments in
money market instruments.

These investments can be converted into a knowruatrad cash within one week at most and
are subject to a negligible risk of a change iugal

Financial assets held for trading (marketable sees)y are assets valued at fair value through
profit or loss.

Bank overdrafts repayable on demand and currembworgs, which are an integral part of the
Group’s cash management, are included in cashastdequivalents for the purposes of the cash
flow statement.

14-Derivative financial instruments

The Group previously used derivative financial iastents to limit its exposure to the interest
rate risks resulting from its operating, financarg investing activities.
At 31 December 2018, the Group held no interestmatiging instruments as these had expired.

The Group does not apply hedge accounting (cash #od fair value hedges). Where
applicable, derivative financial instruments areluded in financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value through profit or loss. Trefit or loss resulting from subsequent
measurements of the fair value is recorded immelgiat income.

15-Interest-bearing debt

All financial instruments are measured initiallyfair value and subsequently at amortised cost.
Transaction costs are included in the initial measent of financial instruments that are not
measured at fair value through profit or loss. Trhaesaction costs are the marginal costs directly
attributable to the purchase or issuance of a fiahnnstrument and do not include internal
administration costs.

All loan expenses are recorded as expenses fqetted in which they are incurred.
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Put options granted to third-party minority shatldieos of controlled subsidiaries constitute a
financial liability. The liability is measured ohd basis of the contracts and may be remeasured
based on the results achieved by the entity.

The Group records these put options as finanaailities at the present value of the exercise
price of these options after deduction of the eglaninority interests with an offsetting entry to
shareholders’ equity, Group share.

Subsequent changes in the liability are treatédersame manner.

16-Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

Payments to a defined contribution plan are reabedeexpenses at the time they are incurred.

Provisions for retirement indemnities

The Group’s net liability for defined benefit plarssestimated separately for each scheme by
estimating the amount of the future benefits aegliby personnel in exchange for services
rendered during the present and prior periods.

This amount is discounted to determine its presahte, and is reduced by the fair value of the
plan assets. The discount rate is determined ubmd-rench average bond market rate on the
balance sheet date, based on blue chip corporatisb®he calculations are performed using the
projected unit credit method.

Actuarial gains and losses are recorded under itdrather comprehensive income.

17-Provisions

A provision is recorded in the balance sheet wienGroup has a current legal or constructive
obligation resulting from a prior event and it isolpable that that an outflow of resources
representing economic benefits will be necessasatisfy the obligation.

A restructuring provision is recorded when a tratisa is approved by the Group and has been
the subject of a notification.

The amount recorded in provisions is the best edénof the expense that will be required to
satisfy the obligation. The amount is discounte@mthe impact is material.

18-Income

Revenue from contracts with customers

Sales of products and services are measured daithealue of the consideration received or
receivable, net of trade discounts and sales taxes.
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Sales of goods are recorded in the income stateatetiie time of delivery of the goods and
transfer of ownership to the buyer, who takes @ir ttisks and benefits.

Income obtained from the provision of servicesisorded in the income statement based on the
percentage of completion of the service at thernualasheet date, and is valued based on the
work performed.

Public subsidies

The public subsidies that offset some expensesrreduby the Group are recorded
systematically as income in the income statememnt,tlie period in which the expenses are
incurred.

The subsidies that cover all or part of the codtaro asset are deducted from this asset to
determine its cost price.

The subsidy is recorded as income over the uséubi the asset and can be amortised through
a decrease in the depreciation expense.

Competitiveness and employment tax credit (Crédiipdt pour la compétitivité et I'emploi —

CICE)

The Competitiveness and Employment tax credit (§I@&s introduced under Article 66 of the
Amending French Finance Act no. 2012-1510 of 29ebawer 2012.

It is calculated based on the total remuneratiad paring the calendar year and the income is
accounted for in line with personnel expenses. Ci€Eecorded as a reduction in personnel
expenses.

19-Expenses

Payments under operating leases

Payments under operating leases are recogniseghasses on a straight line basis over the term
of the lease.

The benefits received or receivable by the lesseeexorded as income according to the same
rule, spread out over the term of the lease.

Net financial items

Net financial items include interest payable omband cash liabilities, interest receivable on
investments, foreign exchange gains and lossesgamd and losses on financial instruments
that are recorded in the income statement.

20-Income tax
Income taxes include current tax expense or incangedeferred tax expense or income. The tax

is recorded in income unless it is related to itggosted directly to shareholders’ equity, in
which case it is recorded in shareholders’ equity.
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The Cotisation sur la Valeur Ajoutée des Entrepri¢€¥AE — French business value added tax)
Is not classified as an income tax and does notecewthin the scope of IAS 12. The
contributions are recorded under operating expenses

Current tax is the estimated tax due on taxablemefor a period and any adjustment of the
amount of current tax for prior periods.

Deferred tax is determined using the balance drad®mlity method for all temporary differences
between the book value of the assets and lialsildied their tax bases, based on tax rates that
were adopted or substantially adopted at the balaheet date.

No deferred tax is posted in respect of the foltapitems:

- Goodwill not deductible for tax purposes;
- Initial recording of an asset or liability that efts neither accounting income nor taxable
income (except in the case of a business combmjatio

A deferred tax asset is not recorded unless itabable that the Group will have future taxable
income against which this asset can be chargecerief tax assets are reduced when it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable income \wélavailable.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset witneme is a legally enforceable right to offset tax
assets and liabilities due, and when they involses$ on income withheld by the same tax
authority and the Group intends to pay them basetth@r net amount.

21-Management of financial risk

Generally, the Exacompta Clairefontaine Group donest engage in any complex financial
transactions. However, it is exposed to certaiksriglated to the use of financial instruments in
the context of its activities.

Risk management is performed by the operating uinitaccordance with the policy established
by senior management.

Market risks

Exposure to market risks involves mainly excharege and interest rate risks.

o Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally. Risks relateddmmercial transactions denominated in a
currency other than the respective functional awies of Group entities are related mainly to
purchases of raw materials denominated in US dollar

In order to manage this foreign exchange risk, @neup may use options contracts to hedge

forecast transactions in this currency.

o Interest rate risk
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The Group contracted a number of interest rate swapespect of loans initially issued at
floating rates, which exposed the Group to cash flactuation risk.

Due to the current low fixed rates, it was not ¢deed appropriate to use new derivative
financial instruments as all the interest rate saeypired during the fiscal year.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s approach to managing this risk is wuea that it always has sufficient liquid assets
to meet its liabilities as they fall due withoutcurring unacceptable losses or damaging its
reputation.

To this effect, short-term financing (maturitiesless than one year) is provided by commercial
paper on which a fixed rate is paid.

The Group also has lines of credit to cover mediam maturities.

The Group has conducted a specific review of gaitlity risk and deems that it will be able to
meet future maturities.
Credit risk

Credit risk represents the risk of financial loss the Group if a client or counterparty to a
financial instrument fails to perform its contraatobligations.

o Trade and other receivables

The concentration of credit risk is not significalttis divided among a large number of clients.
The risk of default by business sector and by agumt which the clients engage in their
activities does not have a significant influencecoedit risk.

The Group has implemented tools to monitor outstagsdthat enable it to ensure that its clients
have an appropriate credit history. Clients thahdbsatisfy solvency requirements cannot carry
out transactions with the Group without making asheapayments. Credit risk is also limited by
taking out credit insurance policies and, consetiyetine application of IFRS 9 in this area has
no impact on the Group’s financial statements.

The Group determines a level of write-downs thatesents its estimate of losses that will be
incurred in respect of trade and other receivaldlepairment charges correspond to specific
losses related to individual risks.

The amounts presented in the balance sheet aoé ingbairment recorded.

o Investments

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk fronvéstments, short-term deposits and other cash
instruments by investing only in liquid securities.

As the counterparties are leading banks, the Gdogs not expect that any of them will default.

22-Segment information

Based on the Group’s internal organisation, theraipey segments for financial reporting
purposes are defined by area of activity.

The Group’s operating segments corresponding todis areas of activity are as follows:
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- Paper: production, finishing and formatting of pape
- Processing: manufacture of stationery, office almbfitems and digital photos.

Transactions between the different operating setgraee carried out on arm’s length terms.

Segment information by geographic area is alsoepitesl and is divided by sales-to-customer

area in respect of revenues and by the area inhwthee consolidated companies are located in
respect of other information.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1. CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES

All of the companies have been consolidated at &ieihber 2018 under the full consolidation

method (F.C.).

%

%

Consolidation

Name Address . controlling SIREN No.
interest | method
interest

EXACOMPTA 88480 ETIVAL Parent 505 780

CLAIREFONTAINE CLAIREFONTAINE company 296
132 Quai de Jemmapes 622 033

A.B.L. 75010 PARIS 100 100 F.C. 124
132 Quai de Jemmapes 582 090

AF.A. 75010 PARIS 100 100 F.C. 452
358 Avenue de Paris 025 770

CARTOREL 70025 NIORT 100 100 F.C. 470
. RD 52 439 721

CFR lle Napoléon 68490 OTTMARSHEIM 100 100 F.C. 697
PAPETERIES DE 88480 ETIVAL 100 100 FC 402 965

CLAIREFONTAINE CLAIREFONTAINE " 297
CLAIREFONTAINE RD 52 339 956

RHODIA 68490 OTTMARSHEIM 100 100 F.C. 781
Zl — Rue de Chartres 432 357

CLAIRCELL 28160 BROU 100 100 F.C. 358
10 Rue Beauregard 885 783

COGIR 37110 CHATEAU-RENAULT 100 100 F.C. 159
REGISTRES 27 Rue George Sand 055 500

LE DAUPHIN 38500 VOIRON 100 100 F.C. 953
6 Rue Henri Becquerel 400 210

MADLY 69740 GENAS 100 100 F.C. 449
2 Route d’Avaux 542 091

EVERBAL 02190 EVERGNICOURT 100 100 F.C. 194
138-140 Quai de Jemmapes 702 047

EXACOMPTA 75010 PARIS 100 100 F.C. 564
15 Rue des Ecluses Saint-Marti 702 027

FACIMPRIM 75010 PARIS 100 100 F.C. 665
138 Quai de Jemmapes 572 016

LALO 75010 PARIS 100 100 F.C. 814
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139-175 Rue Jean Jacques

332 346

LAVIGNE Rousseau 100 100 F.C. 444
92130 ISSY-LES-MOULINEAUX
PAPETERIE DE 14 Rue de la Papeterie 100 100 FC. 339 310
MANDEURE 25350 MANDEURE 807
MANUCLASS | 40600 SEGRE ENANIOU-BLED 100 100 F.C. e
INGENIERIE A o bRon | 00 | 100 e | s
QUO VADIS 4ir0 CARQUEROU | 100 | 100 e | M
RAYNARD | | O BRETAGNE| 100 | 100 FC | e
RAINEX Heud Samnt Marhieu - 21 100 100 F.C. 709 895
ROLFAX Z1 Route ge honutiter 100 100 F.C. 432 930
PAPETERIES SILL saane Qb Mool 100 100 F.C. 085 950
PHOTOWEB 38120 SAINT EOREVE 100 100 F.C. e
INVADERS CORP 144 Qual de Jemmapes | 100 100 F.C. 538 908
BRAUSE Produktion D — 51149 KOLN 100 100 F.C.
EXA(%Le/jI',EaSyTbH D — 51149 KOLN 100 100 F.C.
RODECO D — 51149 KOLN 100 100 F.C.
e | Pacramassomonn 4 1 | w0 | e
CLAIR MOROCCO P"ﬁg_izd;gig%' gggg‘fg&‘gi It 100 100 F.C.
ooy | Pac s somes W 1y | ;0 | e
Ex(/gcp:;/g;R E - 08110 MONTCADA | 100 100 e
cocn | g | o | e | o
cocamm | wowemmse | | | e

66




EXACLAIR Ltd

Oldmedow Road

(UK) KING’S LYNN, Norfolk PE30 100 100 F.C.
4LW
1055 Rue Begin — Ville Saint
LU VA Laurent 100 100 F.C.
QUEBEC H4R 1V8
EXACLAIR Via Soperga, 36
ltalia Sl | -~ 20127 MILANO 100 100 F.C.
Sangenjaya Combox 4F
%’%@EE ; 1-32-3 Kamjuma 100 100 F.C.
b Setagaya-Ku, TOKYO
QUO VADIS 120 Elmview Avenue
Editions Inc. HAMBURG, NY 14075-3770 100 100 F.C.
SCHUT PAPIER Kabeljauw 2 100 100 F.C.

NL — 6866 HEELSUM

Changes affecting the scope of consolidation

Companies newly consolidated - acquisitigns

Comgzadeconsolidated

* AIRSENS

Acquisition of 100% interest by PHOTOWEB
on 27 September 2018

* AIRSENS

Transfer of all assets on 31 December 201§

3

The effects of the changes in the scope of coredid are detailed in the information on the

balance sheet and income statement below.
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2. INFORMATION ON THE CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AN D INCOME
STATEMENT

2.1 Non-current assets

2.1.1 Intangible assets

Trademarks

“Concessions, licences, trademarks and similatsifghcludes trademarks totalling €7,367,000.
No impairment was recorded in the financial statetséor fiscal year 2018.

Goodwill

The goodwill recorded applied mainly to three sdiasies at 31 December 2018. The segment
information shows the breakdown of goodwill by Imesis and geographic segment.

The annual impairment test of CGUs was performe2Dit8 based on the cash flow value-in-use
method, by discounting the future cash flows getedréy the continuous use of the CGU. The
methods used for determining the value in use 82fe similar to those used in 2017.

The key assumptions used for determining the reete amounts are the discount rate and the
growth rate used to determine the terminal value.

x  The cash flow discount rate used for CGUs was estichbased on the weighted average
cost of capital, giving a pre-tax rate of betwee0% and 8.01% for processing division
CGUs and 10.70% for paper division CGUs.

x  The long term perpetual growth rate of the CGUnasénly between 0% and 1%.

No loss in value was recorded in respect of the Q@pairment testing.

Sensitivity of impairment losses to changes in &syumptions:

- A one percentage point increase in the discourtfaatall Group CGUs would generate an
impairment loss risk of €1.7 million.

- A one percentage point reduction in the perpetoaivth rate for all Group CGUs would
generate an impairment loss risk of €1.2 million.
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2.1.2 Property, plant and equipment

The useful life of the principal assets has beereveed by the Group. No changes in useful life
leading to a material change in the accountingredtts were identified during the year.

Finance leases included in the respective tables

€000 31/12/2018 31/12/2017
Property, plant and equipment 9,376 9,376
Land 5 5
Buildings 689 689
Plant and 8,682 8,682

equipment
Depreciation 9,371 9,371
Accumulated b/fwd 9,371 9,371
Increase for the period 0 0
Loans 0

2.1.3 Financial assets

Unconsolidated equity interests and other long-tenwestments are stated at cost if there is no
reliable fair value.

Equity interests not included in the consolidat&sope cannot be consolidated and are not
material.

Intercompany receivables, loans and other finarasgaéts are valued at amortised cost. The book
value is equal to the fair value.

69



2.1.4 Intangible assets

Concessions,
At 31 December 2018 (€000) Goodwill a dicr:]egrcgén g Other Total

similar rights
Gross value b/fwd 28,631 30,876 5,397 64,904
Purchases 1,443 109 1,552
Sales (1,288) (1,288)
Changes in scope of consolidation 440 440
Currency translation adjustments ?3) 35 32
Transfers and other (1,342) 801 (541)
Gross value c/fwd 27,289 32,269 5,541 65,099
Amortisation and write-downs b/fwd 1,707 20,653 2,841 25,201
Sales (1,288) (1,288)
Changes in scope of consolidation 373 373
Amortisation 1,583 448 2,031
Write-downs
Reversals
Currency translation adjustments 3) 33 30
Transfers and other (1,342) (8) 8 (1,342)
Amortisation and write-downs c/fwd 365 21,310 3,330 25,005
Net book value b/fwd 26,924 10,223 2,556 39,703
Net book value c/fwd 26,924 10,959 2,211 40,094

Concessions,

At 31 December 2017 (€000) Goodwill ua diﬁgfgé o Other Total

similar rights
Gross value b/fwd 38,507 29,751 6,015 74,273
Purchases 1,506 47 1,553
Sales (678) (279) (957)
Changes in scope of consolidation
Currency translation adjustments (8) (81) (89)
Transfers and other (9,876) 305 (305) (9,876)
Gross value c/fwd 28,631 30,876 5,397 64,904
Amortisation and write-downs b/fwd 10,241 17,921 2,863 31,025
Sales (98) (279) (377)
Changes in scope of consolidation
Amortisation 1,567 527 2,094
Write-downs 1,342 1,498 2,840
Reversals (328) (93) (421)
Currency translation adjustments (8) (76) (84)
Transfers and other (9,876) 101 (101) (9,876)
Amortisation and write-downs c/fwd 1,707 20,653 2,841 25,201
Net book value b/fwd 28,266 11,830 3,152 43,248
Net book value c/fwd 26,924 10,223 2,556 39,703
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2.1.5 Property, plant and equipment

Land and Plant and Advance§ and
At 31 December 2018 (€000) buildings equipment Other PP&E PP&E in Total
progress
Gross value b/fwd 141,175 449,234 37,369 10,734 638,512
Purchases 4,517 8,983 2,595 8,710 24,805
Sales (1,189) (6,453) (797) (24) (8,463)
Changes in scope of consolidation 214 214
Currency translation adjustments 197 175 22 394
Transfers and other 2,247 6,608 462 (10,118) (801)
Gross value c/fwd 146,947, 458,547 39,865 9,302 654,661
Depreciation and write-downs b/fwd 79,878 312,374 29,163 173 421,588
Sales (586) (5,185) (736) (6,507)
Changes in scope of consolidation 196 196
Depreciation 4,435 18,969 2,417 25,821
Write-downs 272 272
Reversals (8) (14) (22)
Currency translation adjustments 86 153 20 259
Transfers and other (205) 205 0
Depreciation and write-downs c/fwd 83,608 326,508 31,060 431 441,607
Net book value b/fwd 61,297 136,860 8,206 10,561 216,924
Net book value c/fwd 63,339 132,039 8,805 8,871 213,054
At 31 December 2017 (€000) 'Biﬂgif]gg ;:’J‘i’; n?ggt Other PP&E Adﬁ?éfé ?nand Total
progress
Gross value b/fwd 141,138 440,386 36,210 8,800 626,534
Purchases 2,082 17,137 3,094 8,614 30,927
Sales (2,402) (12,889) (2,079) (17,370)
Changes in scope of consolidation
Currency translation adjustments (6%6) (787) (136) (1,579)
Transfers and other 1,013 5,387 280 (6,680) 0
Gross value c/fwd 141,175 449,234 37,369 10,734 638,512
Depreciation and write-downs b/fwd 77,906 305,753 28,768 224 412,651
Sales (2,190) (12,101) (1,754) (16,045)
Changes in scope of consolidation
Depreciation 4,456 19,404 2,267 26,127
Write-downs 8 14 22
Reversals (65) (65)
Currency translation adjustments (294) (690) (118) (1,102)
Transfers and other
Depreciation and write-downs c/fwd 79,878 312,374 29,163 173 421,588
Net book value b/fwd 63,232 134,633 7,442 8,576 213,883
Net book value c/fwd 61,297 136,860 8,206 10,561 216,924
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2.1.6 Financial assets

Unconsolidated

At 31 December 2018 (€000) equity interests Loans Other receivables Total
Gross value b/fwd 997 961 1,099 3,057
Purchases 48 209 257
Sales (115) (115)
Changes in scope of consolidation 382 382
Currency translation adjustments 17 17
Transfers and other 27) (35) (62)
Gross value c/fwd 1,379 982 1,175 3,536
Write-downs b/fwd 613 0 2 615
Purchases/sales
Changes in scope of consolidation 382 382
Write-downs 42 33 75
Reversals
Currency translation adjustments
Transfers and other
Write-downs c/fwd 1,037 33 2 1,072
Net book value b/fwd 384 961 1,097 2,442
Net book value c/fwd 342 949 1,173 2,464
At 31 December 2017 (€000) gg&g;?ﬂg:t;g Loans Other receivables Total
Gross value b/fwd 997 924 2,402 4,323
Purchases 70 17 87
Sales
Changes in scope of consolidation
Currency translation adjustments (22) (22)
Transfers and other (33) (1,298) (1,331)
Gross value c/fwd 997 961 1,099 3,057
Write-downs b/fwd 571 0 2 573
Purchases/sales
Changes in scope of consolidation
Write-downs 42 42
Reversals
Currency translation adjustments
Transfers and other
Write-downs c/fwd 613 0 2 615
Net book value b/fwd 426 924 2,400 3,750
Net book value c/fwd 384 961 1,097 2,442

Other receivables consist mainly of deposits anttibdotalling €926,000 at 31 December 2018,

compared to €805,000 at 31 December 2017.
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2.1.7 Table of maturities of other financial assets

At 31 December 2018 (€000) <1year 1-5 years > 5 years Total
Loans 129 175 678 982
Other financial assets 639 38 498 1,175
Financial assets and receivables 768 213 1,176 2,157
At 31 December 2017 (€000) <1year 1-5 years > 5 years Total
Loans 86 210 665 961
Other financial assets 514 26 559 1,099
Financial assets and receivables 600 236 1,224 2,060
2.2 Current assets
2.2.1 Inventories by type
. . Semi-finished and
At 31 December 2018 (€000) Raw materials Work-in-grgress finished goods Total
Gross value b/fwd 66,947 19,362 98,357 184,666
Change 13,205 2,089 12,563 27,857
Gross value c/fwd 80,152 21,451 110,920 212,523
Write-downs b/fwd 6,291 1,123 5,254 12,668
Additions 9,954 990 4,229 15,173
Reversals (6,706) (999) (4,766) (12,471)
Currency translation adjustments and other (2) )
Write-downs c/fwd 9,539 1,114 4,715 15,368
Net book value b/fwd 60,656 18,239 93,103 171,998
Net book value c/fwd 70,613 20,337 106,205 197,155
At 31 December 2017 (€000) Raw materials Work-in-grgress Semi-finished and Total
g finished goods
Gross value b/fwd 63,806 19,576 99,499 182,881
Change 3,141 (214) (1,142) 1,785
Gross value c/fwd 66,947 19,362 98,357 184,666
Write-downs b/fwd 6,167 1,069 5,299 12,535
Additions 6,151 1,113 5,177 12,441
Reversals (6,025) (2,059) (5,216) (12,300)
Currency translation adjustments and other 2) (6) (8)
Write-downs c/fwd 6,291 1,123 5,254 12,668
Net book value b/fwd 57,639 18,507 94,200 170,346
Net book value c/fwd 60,656 18,239 93,103 171,998
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2.2.2 Write-down of other current assets

Write-downs . Write-downs
€000 b/fwd Additions Reversals Other changes o/fwd
Trade receivables 2,865 826 (1,501) 8 2,198
Other receivables 241 241
Total 3,106 826 (1,501) 8 2,439
Statement of maturities of trade and other recéagb
€000 <1 year 1-5 years > 5 years Total
Trade and similar receivables 93,671 733 94,404
Taxes and social security contributions recei@abl 10,636 10,636
Shareholder loan accounts (debit balance)
Other receivables 2,806 2,806
107,113 733 107,846
Impairment (2,439)
Financial assets 105,407
Prepaid expenses 2,673
Reported trade and other receivables 108,080

2.2.3 Cash and cash equivalents

Financial assets held for trading (marketable sees)y are assets valued at fair value through
profit or loss. The book value of €51,867,000 isithmarket value at 31 December 2018. The
book value is equal to the fair value.

2.3 Shareholders’ equity

The parent company’s share capital consists 0f114B® shares with a par value of 4 euros each,
totalling €4,525,920, and did not change duringgbdod. A double voting right is granted to
each fully paid-up share which has been registiredt least two years in the name of the same
shareholder.

The Group has not implemented any specific capitatagement policy.

ETABLISSEMENTS CHARLES NUSSE holds 80.46% of tharghcapital.

74



2.4 Deferred taxes

The principal sources of deferred taxes are trademnaegulated provisions, public subsidies,
internal profits on inventories and provisions.

The change in balance sheet deferred taxes wa$80E2increase in the net deferred tax
liability.

Income statement:

- The change in deferred taxes recorded under netmeacvas a €152,000 increase (deferred
tax expense).

- The change in deferred taxes under comprehensieeni@ was a €124,000 reduction due to
restatement of actuarial gains and losses pursodAS 19R.

The tax calculation is presented in Note 2.10.

Statement of changes in deferred tax

€000 Closing Opening Change
balance balance

Deferred tax assets 951 874 77

Deferred tax liabilities 23,729 23,626 103

Net deferred tax 22,778 22,752 26

2.5 Provisions

Provisions break down as follows:

Provisions . Provisions Other Provisions
€000 b/fwd Additions Reversals not used changes c/fwd
Prqwspns for pensions and similal 23.329 1735 (1,718) (342) 453 23,457
obligations
Non-current provisions 23,329 1,735 (1,718) (342) 453 23,457
Provisions for contingent liabilities 4,257 611 (2,308) (503) 23 2,080
Other provisions for charges D7 125 (110) 112
Current provisions 4,354 736 (2,418) (503) 23 2,192

Other changes in provisions for pensions and sinalaigations correspond to €444,000 of
actuarial adjustments recorded under comprehensieene, amounting to €320,000 after tax.

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations sisin mainly of provisions for retirement
indemnities and are calculated at each balance dhge
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They are valued (including social security conttidms) according to the following main

parameters:

» probability of retirement, staff turnover and mditia

* projected salary increases;

» discounting the resulting liability at 0.93%.

The amounts paid to insurance organisations arectied from provisions.

Net change in the provision for pensions and simoildigations

€000 2018 2017
Liability b/fwd 23,329 22,051
Cost of services rendered 1,261 1,190
Financial expense 211 283
Changes for the period (1,788) (1,427)

- o/w new recruits 139 100

- ol/w departures during the periogd  (1,927) (1,527)
Liability excluding actuarial gains and losses 23183 22,097
ﬁ]c(::tcl)ﬁgal gains and losses under comprehensive 444 1,232
Liability c/fwd 23,457, 23,329

The recorded liability includes €19,941,000 of ghtions under the plan applicable to French

companies and €3,516,000 under plans applicalitgemn companies.

2.6 Bank loans and borrowings

Statement of liquidity risk

€000 <1vyear 1-5 years > 5 years Total
Loans from financial institutions 28,837 65,201 438 94,476
Other borrowings 186 187 373
Bank loans and overdrafts 542 542
Subtotal 29,565 65,388 438 95,391
Shareholder loan accounts (credit balance 8,000 15,000 23,000
Accrued interest 32 32
Total 37,597 65,388 15,438 118,423
Estimated interest to maturity (including the
impact of hedging) 1,044

» Including current liabilities €37,5900

» Including non-current liabilities €80,826,000
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All short and medium-term financing transactione arsased on Euribor. The average
commitment fee charged on credit lines is 0.22%awRiowns are charged at a variable rate
negotiated on the basis of the amount and the matlate of each line of credit. Long-term
financing is arranged through loans mainly negetiait fixed rates.

The fair value of borrowings is equal to the boakue.

2.7 Issuance & financial instruments programmes

Commercial paper

Short-term needs are financed by commercial pgseed by Exacompta Clairefontaine. A fixed
rate determined at the moment of issue is paichercommercial paper, which has a maximum
term of 365 days.

There was no commercial paper outstanding at yeedr-€he maximum amount issuable was
€125 million.

Lines of credit

Lines of credit are in place with several banksdaotal amount of €135 million, with maturities
not exceeding five years. The term of drawdowngearfrom 10 days to twelve months. As at
31 December 2018, none of these lines of credit Ibeein used. As there have been no
drawdowns, the 2018 financial statements have een laffected by the related covenants.

Financial instruments

The Group previously used derivatives mainly todesedgainst interest rate risks in the form of
interest rate swaps. There were no contracts owlisig at 31/12/2018 and the change in fair
value was recorded as net financial income amogntir€228,000.

Transactions performed to hedge exchange rate aisksion-material for the fiscal year. The

Group may use options contracts to hedge foreassdctions, for purchases of raw materials in
US dollars in particular.
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2.8 Other current liabilities

€000 31/12/2018 31/12/2017

Advances and down payments received 1/483 1,506
Taxes and social security contributions payable| 323, 33,218
Fixed asset payables 2,938 3,990
Other liabilities 15,811 21,669
Deferred income 710 58
Derivative financial instruments 0 228
Total 55,264 60,669

2.9 Fair value of financial instruments

Accounting classes and fair value

The table below shows the fair value of financedats and liabilities as well as their book value

as recorded in the statement of financial position.

€000 Note | acauisiion | Measwedat | Loansand | Totalbook | pop g

cost
Unconsolidated equity interests 2.1.6 342 342 342
Loans 2.1.6 949 949 816
Other receivables 2.16 1,173 1,173 1,173
Cash and cash equivalents Assets 115,345 115,345 115,345
Trade and intercompany receivables 222 92,206 92,206 92,206
Total assets 342 115,345 94,328 210,015 209,882
000 Note | Faltvalueof | gl | Totalbook | gy

liabilities

Loans from financial institutions 2.6 94,476 94,476 94,476
Other borrowings 2.6 373 373 373
Bank loans and overdrafts 2.6 542 542 542
Sglzrnechecilder loan accounts (credit 26 23,000 23.000 23,000
Amounts payable on fixed assets 2.8 2,938 2,938 2,938
Trade payables Liabilit;s 61,013 61,013 61,013
Total liabilities - 182,342 182,342 182,342
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Ranking of fair values

The table below shows the breakdown of financistriiments accounted for at fair value based

on their valuation method. The levels are definetbdows:

« Level 1: fair value measured using (unadjustedjgsriquoted on active markets for identical

assets and liabilities.

» Level 2: fair value measured using observable dater than the quoted prices included in
level 1, for the asset or liability, either dirgcfprices) or indirectly (derived from prices).

* Level 3: fair value measured using data not baseobservable market data.

€000 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents Assets 115,345 -

Liabilities

Interest rate swaps 2.8 - -

2.10 Income tax — Calculation of tax

€000 2018 2017
Consolidated net income after tax 12,480 12,866
Goodwill impairment, net of badwill gain 1,342
Income taxes 2,292 6,606
Deferred taxes 152 (31)
Consolidated tax base 14,924 20,783
Statutory tax rate applicable to parent company 335. 33.33%
Theoretical tax charge 4,975 6,928
Tax rate differences (5) a77)
Accounting/tax timing differences (1,695) (1,486)
Tax debits and credits (556) 248
Earnout (275) 1,062
Actual tax charge 2,444 6,575
Income taxes 2,292 6,606
Deferred taxes 152 (31)
Reported tax charge 2,444 6,575
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2.11 Group headcount and employee benefits

Average headcount 2018 2017
Management 512 493
Employees 874 876
Labourers and other salaried workers 1,671 1,694
Total 3,057 3,063
e | wou | aoam

The competitiveness and employment tax credit (§liSEecorded as a reduction in personnel
expenses and came to €3,560,000 for the year.

2.12 Financial income and expenses

€000 2018 2017
Equity interests and income from other finanesdets 5 6
Income from other receivables and marketable 571 556

securities
Other financial income 137 123
Financial instruments — change in fair value P28 133

Reversal of provisions and write-downs - -
Foreign exchange losses 2,135 1,777

Net gain on sale of marketable securities - -

Total financial income 3,076 2,595
Increase in provisions and write-downs 75 42
Interest and financial expenses 923 918

Financial instruments — change in fair value - -

Foreign exchange losses 1,812 3,202
Other financial expenses 264 231
Total financial expenses 3,074 4,393

2.13 Off-balance sheet commitments

» Greenhouse gas emission allowances

The principles applied by the Group are set forthNote 12 of the presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

The quantities allocated for 2018 amounted to 65,@®hnes, while C®emissions totalled
87,986 tonnes.
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The remaining allowances due for the current atloogperiod amount to 126,019 tonnes.

» Sureties and guarantees

Exacompta Clairefontaine jointly and severally gudees payment to Exeltium of all liabilities
in respect of purchases of blocks of electricitptcacted by Papeteries de Clairefontaine.

2.14 Related parties

> The consolidated financial statements include #aatiens with Etablissements Charles
Nusse.

€000 31/12/2018 31/12/2017
(12 months) (12 months)

Balance sheet

Current account balances:

Interest-bearing debt 15,000 15,000
Short-term portion of interest-bearing debt 8,000 8,000

Income statement

Financial expenses 233 224
Fees 1,349 1,327
Leases incl. charges 7,692 7,308

Group companies benefit from the leadership praVvioke Ets Charles Nusse and pay a fee equal
to 0.6% of the added value for the previous year.

Manufacturing, logistics and office facilities aeased to certain Group companies on arm’s
length terms.

» Remuneration of administrative and management bodie

The total direct and indirect remuneration of afids received by all Group managers amounted
to €1,849,000 in 2018, of which €1,333,000 was midhe Exacompta Clairefontaine Group,
compared to €1,830,000 and €1,323,000 respectin&17.

No other benefits are granted to Group senior €xexsi

The total amount of directors’ fees to be sharedragrthe directors for 2018 is €60,000 and was
awarded by a decision of the 27 May 2015 Sharemsltieeting.
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2.15 Statutory auditors’ fees

ANC Regulation 2016-09 of 2 December 2016 on dmales in the notes to consolidated

financial statements prepared in accordance witdrnational standards.

€000 2018 2017
SEREC AUDIT 338 340
BATT AUDIT 231 229
Other auditors 166 196
Total - certification of financial statements 735 765
Total - other services - -

Other auditors mainly include statutory auditordarkign subsidiaries, comprising 9 firms for

12 subsidiaries in 2018.

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Correspondence with the consolidated balance sheet:
“Other assets allocated” includes inventories athchaces;

- “Unallocated assets” consists of tax receivabledefdrred tax assets.

» Segment information by business — 31/12/2018 (18th®)

Inter-segment

€000 Paper Processing . Total
transactions
Segment income statement
Revenue 274,042 458,971 (129,914) 603,099
Depreciation/amortisation (net of 11,963 16.138 28.101
reversals)
Write-downs and provisions (2,218) (483)
. Opgratlng income (excl. goodwill 5.026 10,299 (403) 14,922
impairment)
Goodwill impairment -
Segment assets
Net PP&E and intangible assets 109,125 117,099 26,224
o/w capex 12,265 14,092 26,357
Goodwill 26,924 26,924
Trade receivables 41,089 73,146 (22,029) 92,206
Other receivables 3,196 12,736 (58) 15,874
Balance sheet total 44,285 85,882 (22,087) 108,080




Other assets allocated 69,796 132,252 (3,193) ,8098
Unallocated assets 8,618
Total assets 233,206 362,157 (25,280) 568,701
Segment liabilities
Current provisions 1,104 1,088 2,192
Trade payables 23,561 59,469 (22,017) 61,013
Other payables 16,324 39,021 (81) 55,264
Unallocated liabilities 163
Total liabilities 40,989 99,578 (22,098) 118,632
» Segment information by geographic area — 31/12/Z028nonths)
€000 France Europe Outside Europe Total
Revenue 382,819 192,117 28,163 603,099
Net PP&E and intangible assets 210,326 10,287 115,6 226,224
o/w capex 23,661 2,391 305 26,357
Goodwill 26,924 26,924
Trade receivables 76,831 13,719 1,656 92,206
Other receivables 13,451 394 2,029 15,874
Balance sheet total 90,282 14,113 3,685 108,080
Other assets allocated 186,859 5,739 6,257 198,85
Unallocated assets 8,618
Total assets 514,391 30,139 15,553 568,701
» Segment information by business — 31/12/2017 (18thw)
€000 Paper Processing Inter-seg_m ent Total
transactions
Segment income statement
Revenue 266,921 459,266 (128,478) 597,709
Depreciation/amortisation (net of 11,693 17,562 29255
reversals)
Write-downs and provisions 582 (5,120) (4,538)
. Opgratlng income (excl. goodwill 12,689 10,572 (680) 22581
impairment)
Goodwill impairment 1,342 1,342
Segment assets
Net PP&E and intangible assets 110,153 119,550 29,793
o/w capex 15,549 16,931 32,480
Goodwill 26,924 26,924
Trade receivables 39,641 79,969 (22,575) 97,035
Other receivables 2,381 14,593 (82) 16,892
Balance sheet total 42,022 94,562 (22,657) 113,927




Other assets allocated 59,079 117,916 (2,790) ,2084
Unallocated assets 6,014
Total assets 211,254 358,952 (25,447) 550,773
Segment liabilities
Current provisions 2,255 2,099 4,354
Trade payables 23,140 61,250 (22,575) 61,815
Other payables 16,428 44,330 (89) 60,669
Unallocated liabilities 554
Total liabilities 41,823 107,679 (22,664) 127,392
» Segment information by geographic area — 31/12/Z02 fnonths)
€000 France Europe Outside Europe Total
Revenue 386,633 181,835 29,241 597,709
Net PP&E and intangible assets 214,191 9,601 15,91 229,703
o/w capex 29,161 3,053 266 32,480
Goodwill 26,924 26,924
Trade receivables 78,737 16,648 1,650 97,035
Other receivables 12,678 568 3,646 16,892
Balance sheet total 91,415 17,216 5,296 113,927
Other assets allocated 162,864 5,521 5,820 134,20
Unallocated assets 6,014
495,394 32,338 17,027 550,773

Total assets
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Exacompta Clairefontaine S.A.

Statutory auditors’ report
on the consolidated financial statements

Resolutions submitted to the Ordinary Shareholders’
Meeting
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SEREC AUDIT BATT AUDIT

Statutory Auditor Statutory Auditor
Member of the Paris Institute of Statutory Auditors Member of the Nancy Institute of Statutory Audstor
70 bis rue Mademoiselle 25 rue du Bois de la Crediep
75015 PARIS 54500 VANDOEUVRE LES NANCY

REPORT OF THE STATUTORY AUDITORS ON THE CONSOLIDADE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2018

Dear Shareholders of EXACOMPTA CLAIREFONTAINE,

Opinion

In accordance with the assignment entrusted tyy®br Shareholders’ Meeting, we have audited the
consolidated financial statements of EXACOMPTA CREFONTAINE for the year ended 31
December 2018, which are appended to this report.

We hereby certify that the consolidated financiatesments are, with regard to the IFRS adopted
within the European Union, in order and accurate fairly present the results of operations for the
year ended as well as the financial position aedagsets and liabilities, at the year-end, of #rsqns
and entities included in the consolidation.

The opinion expressed above is consistent witltdmeent of our report to the Audit Committee of the
Board of Directors.

Basis of the opinion

Audit standards
We performed our audit in accordance with the m®iftnal standards applicable in France. We
believe that the evidence we have gathered pro@deasonable basis for our opinion.

Our responsibilities pursuant to these standardssat forth in the section “Responsibilities of the
statutory auditors relating to the audit of thesmidated financial statements” of this report.

I ndependence

We have performed our audit in compliance with rihles of independence applicable to us, for the
period running from 1 January 2018 to the datessfi@ of our report, and in particular we have not
provided services prohibited under Article 5, paaphyp 1, of regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 or the
French Code of Ethics for statutory auditors.
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Justification of our assessments - Key audit matter

Pursuant to the provisions of Articles L. 823-9 &d823-7 of the French Commercial Code on the
justification of our assessments, we draw youmétia to the key audit matters relating to the ék
material misstatements which, in our professiondfjgment, have been the most significant for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements, leowl we addressed these risks.

The assessments carried out are part of our atitiecconsolidated financial statements, taken as a
whole, and formed our opinion, which is expresdaalva. We do not express an opinion on individual
items of these consolidated financial statements.

Measurement of goodwill
Risk identified

For the purposes of its development, the Groupnmade corporate acquisitions and recognised the
related goodwill.

This goodwill is the difference between the prieggdpand the fair value of the assets and liabdlitie
acquired. It is set forth in Note 8 of the para@rdiPresentation of the consolidated financial
statements” to the consolidated financial statemdhhas been allocated to the cash generatirtg uni
(CGUs) in which the acquired companies have beegiated.

Management ensures in each fiscal year that thgimgramount of goodwill, totalling a net amount
of €27 million on the balance sheet, is not higien its recoverable amount and does not present a
risk of impairment loss. However, any adverse claingthe expected future cash flows of the cash
generating units to which the goodwill has beencalted, due to internal or external factors such as
those linked to the economic and financial envirentn which the cash generating units operate,
could significantly affect the recoverable amoumd aequire the recognition of an impairment. Such a
change would call for the reassessment of the aakay of all the assumptions made for determining
this amount as well as the reasonableness andesweeof the calculation parameters.

The methods used for the impairment test is s¢t forNote 8 of the paragraph “Presentation of the
consolidated financial statements”. The recoveradieount of each cash generating unit was
determined using the value in use calculated fioendiscounted value of expected future cash flows
from the group of assets comprising that CGU.

The determination of the recoverable amount of gaddwvhich is a particularly material amount, is
largely based on management’s judgement, in péatias regards the growth rate used for projected
future cash flows and the discount rate applied.

We are therefore of the opinion that the measuréofegoodwill is a key audit matter.
Audit procedures implemented to address this risk

We have reviewed the compliance of the method egpby the company with the applicable
accounting standards. We also conducted a criteaew of how this method was applied and in
particular verified:

- the completeness of the items comprising theyirey amount of each cash generating unit and
the consistency of the determination of this amaowmithh the way in which the projected future
cash flows were determined for the value in use;
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- the reasonableness of the projected future ftasls with regard to the economic and financial
situation in which the CGUs operate and the rditgbdf the estimation process by looking into
the reasons for differences between forecasts @ndls;

- the consistency of these cash flow projectioitk the latest estimates made by management;

- the consistency between the growth rate usegragected cash flows and market analyses and
the consensus among key main market players;

- the calculation of the discount rate applie@stmated cash flows by checking that the different
discounting parameters comprising the weightedamesicost of capital (gearing, risk free rate,
market premium, unlevered beta, and cost of debt)ldvbe aligned on the rate of return that
market players currently expect for such an agtjvit

- the sensitivity test of the value in use perfedrby management to a change in the main
assumptions used.

Specific verifications

In accordance with the professional standards egdgle in France, we also performed the specific
verifications required under statutory and regulatprovisions regarding the information on the
Group included in the Board of Directors’ managetmeport.

We have no comments to make about the accuracycamidrmity thereof with the consolidated
financial statements.

We hereby confirm that the consolidated statemémom-financial performance provided for by
Article L. 225-102-1 of the French Commercial Caglencluded in the Group information provided in
the management report, on the understanding thatdordance with the provisions of Article L. 823-
10 of the said Code, we have not verified the amouof the information contained in this statement,
nor its consistency with the consolidated finangttements, which should be subject to a report
drawn by an independent third party.

Disclosures pursuant to other statutory and regulatry requirements

Appointment of statutory auditors

We were appointed as statutory auditors of EXACOMRILAIREFONTAINE by the Shareholders’
Meeting of 31 May 1996, in the case of SEREC AUDdRd of 22 May 2008 in the case of BATT
AUDIT.

On 31 December 2018, SEREC AUDIT was in the 23mdseoutive year of its engagement and

BATT AUDIT in the 11th year since the company’s gsawere admitted for trading on a regulated
market.

Responsibilities of senior management and of thosdarged with corporate governance relating
to the consolidated financial statements
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It is management’s responsibility to prepare cadatéd financial statements representing a true and
fair view in accordance with IFRS (Internationah&icial Reporting Standards), as adopted within the
European Union, and to establish the internal obrbat it deems necessary for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements free of matenisktatements, whether due to fraud or error.

During the preparation of the consolidated finansiatements, it is the responsibility of manageimen
to assess the company’s ability to continue asrgggmncern, to present in these financial statespen
if applicable, the necessary information on thengotoncern basis and to apply the standard
accounting policy for a going concern, unless ipl@nned to wind up the company or discontinue
operations.

It is the responsibility of the Audit Committee thie Board of Directors to monitor the process far t
preparation of financial information and the effeehess of internal control and risk management
systems, and, where applicable, of the internait @ydtem, as regards the procedures relatingeto th
preparation and processing of accounting and fiahimdormation.

The consolidated financial statements have beeroapg by the Board of Directors.

Responsibilities of the statutory auditors relatingto the audit of the consolidated financial
statements

Audit objective and approach

It is our responsibility to prepare a report on tleasolidated financial statements. Our objectsvi®i
obtain reasonable assurance that the consolidmtadcfal statements, taken as a whole, are free of
material misstatements. Reasonable assurance igha lével of assurance without however
guaranteeing that an audit performed in accordanitethe professional standards applicable would
systematically detect any material misstatemenssdMiements may be due to fraud or errors and are
considered as material when it is reasonable teaxihat they can, taken separately or together,
influence the economic decisions that users ofitfaacial statements take based on them.

As set out in Article L. 823-10-1 of the French Guarcial Code, our engagement relating to the
certification of the financial statements doesewisist in guaranteeing the viability or qualityyofur
company’s management.

As part of an audit performed in accordance wittlittag standards applicable in France, the stayutor
auditor exercises their professional judgementutihout the audit. Furthermore:

- the auditor identifies and assesses the riséis ttie consolidated financial statements contain
material misstatements, whether due to fraud aredefines and implements audit procedures to
address these risks, and gathers the evidencéhthauditor deems sufficient and appropriate to
base the auditor’s opinion. The risk of non-detattf a material misstatement due to a fraud is
higher than that of a material misstatement dugnterror, since a fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, wilful omissions, misrepresentations @ tdircumvention of internal control;

- the auditor examines the aspects of the interaatrol system relevant to the audit in order to
define appropriate audit procedures under the wistances, and not with the objective of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness ofritexmal control;

- the auditor assesses the appropriateness attweinting policies used and the reasonableness of
the accounting estimates made by management, hasiéle disclosures on these provided in the
consolidated financial statements;

- the auditor assesses the appropriateness ofgeaeat's application of the going concern
principle and, depending on the evidence gathevdutther or not there is a significant
uncertainty relating to these events or circum&anthat might compromise the company’s
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ability to continue as a going concern. This assess$ is based on the evidence gathered up to
the date of the auditor’'s report, it being notedvéeer that subsequent circumstances or events
could compromise the going concern basis. If theéitau concludes that there is a significant
uncertainty, the auditor draws the reader’'s aentvithin the audit report to the disclosures
provided in the consolidated financial statemeatgrding this uncertainty or, if such disclosures
are not provided or are not relevant, issues afpghbpinion or refuses to issue an opinion;

- the auditor assesses the overall presentatitimeofonsolidated financial statements and assesses
whether the consolidated financial statements acetlee underlying transactions and events in
such a way as to give a true and fair view;

- regarding financial information on persons antties included in the consolidation, the auditor
gathers evidence that the auditor deems suffi@edt appropriate to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. The auditoegponsible for the management, supervision and
conduct of the audit of the consolidated finansi@tements and for the opinion expressed on
these financial statements.

Report to the Audit Committee of the Board of Doex

We submit a report to the Audit Committee of theaRBbof Directors, defining the scope of the audit
work and the audit programme implemented, as veetha findings based on our work. We also draw
their attention, where applicable, to significamernal control weaknesses that we have identified,
regards procedures relating to the preparatiomanckessing of accounting and financial information.

The report submitted to the Audit Committee of Baard of Directors also contains information on
the risks of material misstatements that we deetmdthve been the most significant for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements and whichetbee constitute key audit matters. These matters
are described in this report.

We also submit to the Audit Committee of the Boafr@irectors the declaration set out in Articlefé o
Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 confirming our indegence, within the meaning of the rules
applicable in France as they are defined in pdeidn Articles L. 822-10 to L. 822-14 of the Frénc
Commercial Code and the French Code of Ethicstidutory auditors. If necessary, we discuss with
the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors theks to our independence and the safeguards
applied.

Executed in Paris and Vandoeuvre-lés-Nancy, 30 2040

The Statutory Auditors,

SEREC AUDIT BATT AUDIT

Benoit GRENIER Pascal FRANCOIS
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RESOLUTIONS SUBMITTED

TO THE ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS' MEETING OF 6 JUNE 2901

FIRST RESOLUTION

That, following a reading by the Board of Directaaad the statutory auditors of their
respective reports, the Meeting approve these tepar their entirety, as well as the
operations described therein, and approve the pamnpany financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2018.

SECOND RESOLUTION

That, following a reading by the Board of Directaad the statutory auditors of their
respective reports, the Meeting approve these tepar their entirety, as well as the
operations described therein, and approve the ddased financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

THIRD RESOLUTION

That, at the recommendation of the Board of Dinex;tthe Shareholders’ Meeting resolve to
distribute and appropriate earnings for the yedoksws:

2018 AININGS ...evvvvrriiiiiiieeee e e e e imeeeemreeeas €5,487,415.54
Appropriated as follows:
First dividend ... €226,296.00
Second dividend ..........cevveviiiiiiiiiiiiie €2,828,700.00

Total dividends €3,0826.00
Transfer to other reserves .......oooveeeveeieeeeeen.. €2,432,419.54

Given that the company’s share capital is divided 1,131,480 shares, each of these shares
will receive a total dividend of €2.70.

The following table shows the dividends paid fa thst three years:

Year Dividend Number of shares
2015 2.00 1,131,480
2016 2.60 1,131,480
2017 2.70 1,131,480

91



FOURTH RESOLUTION

That, following a reading of the statutory auditasecial report, the Shareholders’ Meeting
formally note the absence in 2018 of any operatiefeged to Article L. 225-38 of the French
Commercial Code.

FIFTH RESOLUTION

That the Shareholders’ Meeting give a full discleatg the directors for their management
during the past year.

SIXTH RESOLUTION

That the Shareholders’ Meeting, called to apprdwe tecommendation of the Board of
Directors, set the amount of directors’ fees far ¢hrrent fiscal year and the subsequent fiscal
years at €91,000.

SEVENTH RESOLUTION

That the Shareholders’ Meeting approve the remtinergpackage and benefits of all kind
paid or allocated in respect of fiscal year 2018Ftancois Nusse, Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer, and Jean-Marie Nusse and Jeand® Gilles Nusse, Executive Vice
Presidents, as presented in the corporate govesnaport (point 5. Remuneration of the
corporate officers).

EIGHTH RESOLUTION

That the Shareholders’ Meeting, having taken ndtehe report provided for by Article
L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code, approve phinciples and criteria for the
determination, distribution and allocation of tliveetl, variable and exceptional remuneration
comprising the total remuneration and benefits Ibkiad presented in the aforementioned
report and attributable to the Chairman and Chiedddtive Officer and the Executive Vice
Presidents in consideration for their offices.

NINTH RESOLUTION

That the Shareholders’ Meeting resolve in favouthef Board of Directors’ recommendation

to appoint Monique Prissard, residing at 17 ruéldernon, Paris (6th district), as a director
of the company.

This appointment, which is valid for six years, M@rminate at the close of the Shareholders’
Meeting called to approve the financial statemémtsiscal year 2024.

TENTH RESOLUTION

That the Shareholders’ Meeting resolve in favouthef Board of Directors’ recommendation
to appoint Louise de I'Estang du Rusquet, resi@ding rue Jean Nicot, Paris (7th district), as a
director of the company.

This appointment, which is valid for six years, M@rminate at the close of the Shareholders’
Meeting called to approve the financial statemémtsiscal year 2024.
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Exacompta Clairefontaine S.A.
EXTRAORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

Agenda

1% Resolution: Amendment to the Articles of Associati
o Report of the Board of Directors

o Resolution submitted to the Extraordinary SharedéigldVieeting

2" Resolution: Capital increase reserved for membeascompany
savings plan

o Report of the Board of Directors
o Statutory auditors’ report

o Resolution submitted to the Extraordinary SharedisldVieeting
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

TO THE EXTRAORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS' MEETING OF 6 JURN
2019

Amendment to the Articles of Association

To the Shareholders,

The PACTE (Action Plan for Business Growth and Ffarmation) draft law seeks to
increase the number of directors representing eyepl on the boards of directors of
companies with over 1,000 employees in France @®Gemployees in France and abroad.
From now on, where at least eight directors areeped by the shareholders, there must be
two directors representing employees on the Boattereas current law provides for the
presence of two directors representing employedg ibrmore than twelve directors are
appointed by the shareholders.

Companies whose boards of directors comprise betwiht and twelve directors appointed
by the shareholders must amend their Articles cdomtion to provide for the election or
appointment of an additional director represengngployees, as is the case for Exacompta
Clairefontaine.

The resolution submitted to a vote of the Extramady Shareholders’ Meeting is intended to
amend the current thresholds provided in the sepamagraph of Article 10.2.1.

The Board of Directors recommends that you adaptrésolution.
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RESOLUTION SUBMITTED

TO THE EXTRAORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS' MEETING OF 6 JURN
2019

Amendment to the Articles of Association

FIRST RESOLUTION

The Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting resolveartend the second paragraph of Article
10.2.1 of the Articles of Association as follows:

The previous wording
“There must be two directors representing employaesompanies where the number of
directors mentioned in Article 10.1 is more tharelwe, and one otherwise.”

Is struck out and replaced with the following waorgli

“The number of directors representing employeedl sfea determined in accordance with
statutory provisions.”
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
TO THE EXTRAORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING OF 6 JUN2019

Capital increase reserved for members of a compawngs plan

To the Shareholders,

We have convened this Extraordinary Shareholdersetiig to request that you take a
decision on the periodic statutory requirement tdevon a capital increase reserved for
employees.

Article L. 225-129-6 of the French Commercial Codguires that the shareholders be
periodically consulted in order to vote on a dra&olution on a capital increase reserved for
employees subscribing to a company savings plaheterms and conditions provided for in
section 4, chapter I, title Ill, book Il of thaitd part of the French Labour Code.

This requirement continues to apply provided theg shares held by employees of the
company and of the companies related to it withm mheaning of Article L. 225-180 of the
French Commercial Code represent less than 3%edliare capital. The report submitted by
the Board of Directors to the Ordinary Shareholdbfseting shows that this condition is
fulfilled.

In order to remain in compliance with the aforenmamd condition, we hereby submit to you
a resolution proposing that you authorise a capitalease up to a limit of 3% of the share
capital. Given that the capital increase is restfee members of a company savings plan, we
also propose that the preferential subscriptionmtritpe cancelled in favour of the
aforementioned class of employees.

If the Meeting adopts this resolution, the BoardDafectors will be authorised to carry out

one or more capital increases as it sees fit. Ratsio statutory provisions, the subscription
price of the shares issued via the aforementioagitat increase shall be set by the Board
subject to control by the statutory auditors.

The Board of Directors recommends that you votanagdhis resolution and rule out the
reserved capital increase.
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SEREC AUDIT BATT AUDIT

Statutory Auditor Statutory Auditor
Member of the Paris Institute of Statutory Auditors Member of the Nancy Institute of Statutory Audstor
70 bis rue Mademoiselle 25 rue du Bois de la Crediep
75015 PARIS 54500 VANDOEUVRE LES NANCY

REPORT OF THE STATUTORY AUDITORS
ON THE CAPITAL INCREASE
RESERVED FOR EMPLOYEES SUBSCRIBING TO A COMPANY
SAVINGS PLAN
TO THE EXTRAORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS' MEETING OF 6 JUN2019

Dear Shareholders of EXACOMPTA CLAIREFONTAINE,

In our capacity as the statutory auditors of yaumpany and pursuant to the stipulations of Articles
L. 225-135 et seq. of the French Commercial Codehereby report on the proposed capital increase
via the issuance of ordinary shares with canceltatif preferential subscription rights within theit

of 3% of the share capital, reserved for employsaisscribing to a company savings plan, an
operation upon which you are called to vote.

This capital increase is subject to your approwaspant to the provisions of Article L. 225-12946 o
the French Commercial Code and under the condifogided for in section 4, chapter Il, title IlI,
book Il of the third part of the French Labour @od

Your Board of Directors recommends, on the basitsakport, that you delegate to it the powerdb s
the terms of this operation and proposes to caymal preferential subscription rights for the eguit
securities to be issued.

It is the Board'’s responsibility to prepare a réporaccordance with Articles R. 225-113 and R.-225
114 of the French Commercial Code. It is our resjimlity to express our opinion on the accuracy of
the quantitative information drawn from the finaalcstatements, on the proposal to cancel the
preferential subscription right and on certain otilformation on the issue provided in this report.
Given that the final terms and conditions of theitzd increase have not yet been determined, we
express no opinion on said terms and conditionga@rordingly, on the proposal submitted to you to
cancel the preferential subscription right.

Pursuant to Article R. 225-116 of the French ConuiaéiCode, we will prepare an additional report
when your Board of Directors exercises the foreg@inthorisation.

Executed in Paris and Vandceuvre-lés-Nancy, 30 20409

The Statutory Auditors,

SEREC AUDIT BATT AUDIT

Benoit GRENIER Pascal FRANCOIS
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RESOLUTION SUBMITTED
TO THE EXTRAORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING OF 6 JUN2019

Capital increase reserved for members of a compawngs plan

SECOND RESOLUTION

Having reviewed the Board of Directors’ report dhd statutory auditors’ special report, the
Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting:

% hereby delegates to the Board of Directors its pdewalecide upon one or more capital
increases reserved for employees of the companyhendompanies related to it within
the meaning of Article L. 255-180 of the French Qoencial Code who are members of a
company savings plan;

& cancels the preferential subscription right to ahgres that may be issued under the
present authorisation, in favour of the aforememd@class of employees;

sets the term of this authorisation at twenty-sonths as of the date of this Meeting;

sets the maximum amount of the capital increasm@eases that may be carried out
under this authorisation at 3% of the amount ofstha@re capital;

% resolves that the price of the future shares, @unisto this delegation of authority:

- may not exceed the average listed price of the eoyip share over the 20 trading
sessions prior to the Board of Directors’ decisisetting the date on which
subscription is to commence with regard to the teapncrease and corresponding
share issue;

- may not be more than 20% lower than this averadg@eyand not more than 30%
lower when the lock-in period provided for undee tbcheme, pursuant to Articles
L. 3332-25 and L. 3332-26 of the French Labour Cazlat least ten years.

and hereby grants all powers to the Board of Damscfor the purposes of exercising this

authorisation, implementing all measures required @ompleting all of the relevant
formalities.
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